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OUR RISKS AND 
STRATEGY ARE 
INTERRELATED, 
DEVELOPING 
AND IMPROVING 
OUR BUSINESS

2
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Scope and boundary
The integrated annual report for 2018 includes the 
operations of Spanjaard Limited and its subsidiaries (the 
Company, the Group or Spanjaard). The information in this 
report covers the financial and non-financial performance 
of the Company for the year ended 28 February 2018 and 
where it is relevant to include information post year-end, 
this has been incorporated and noted.

Spanjaard has endeavoured to improve on its disclosures in 
this report and to provide meaningful, accurate, complete, 
transparent and balanced information to stakeholders. 
The Board and Board committees were actively involved 
in financial disclosures made in this report.

This report was prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the South African Companies Act, No. 71 
of 2008, as amended (the Companies Act), the Listings 
Requirements of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited 
(JSE), the principles of the King IV Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa 2016, International <IR> 
Framework, International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants 
(SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the 
Accounting Practices Committee, Reporting Guidelines 
of the Global Reporting Initiative as well as the Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI).

The Group’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Inc, have provided an external audit opinion on the annual 
financial statements in accordance with the requirements 
of the Companies Act. These were prepared by Ian Saunders 
CA(SA), Financial Director (also refer to the Report of the 
Independent Auditors on page 37). No external assurance 
was given on the integrated annual report (refer to the 
Corporate Governance Review on page 19).

The requirement for sustainability assurance is at this stage 
not deemed necessary. This will be reviewed annually. This 
report contains the most material issues of concern to all 
our stakeholders. For additional information visit our 
website: www.spanjaard.biz.

Materiality
Materiality is determined with consideration to the 
International <IR> Framework, King IV and internal policies. 
The organisation defines material issues as those matters 
having the potential to affect the business’ strategy, business 
model, sustainability or one or more of the capitals over 
the short, medium and long term taking into account the 
likelihood and consequence of the issues.

Forward-looking statements
The statements made within the integrated annual 
report may contain forward-looking information including 
statements regarding the Company’s intent, belief 
or current expectations with respect to Spanjaard’s 
operations, market conditions, results of operation and 
financial condition, capital adequacy, specific provisions 
and risk management practices.

Stakeholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance 
on these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking 
statements are based on Spanjaard’s current expectations 
and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from those expressed or implied 
in such forward-looking statements. These statements are 
based on a number of assumptions that are subject to 
change. The integrated annual report speaks only as of 
this date and the period reported on. Spanjaard disclaims 
any duty to update the information herein.

Board responsibility
The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility to 
ensure the integrity of the integrated annual report. The 
Board has accordingly applied its mind, collectively and 
individually, to the integrated annual report and, in its 
opinion, the integrated annual report addresses all material 
issues, and fairly presents the integrated performance of 
the organisation and its impacts. The integrated annual 
report has been prepared with consideration to the 
recommendations of King IV. The Board authorised the 
integrated annual report for release on 25 May 2018.

Prof DP van der Nest 
Non-executive Chairman 
31 May 2018 

Kentin Welgemoed 
Chief Executive Officer 
31 May 2018 

Statement of compliance 
by Company Secretary 
I confirm that the Company has lodged with the Companies 
and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as 
are required to be lodged by a public company in terms of 
section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, as amended, and 
that all such returns are true, correct and up to date as at 
28 February 2018.

Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited 
Company Secretary
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ABOUT THIS REPORT



Established in 1960, we are a leading and proudly  
South African manufacturer of special lubricants  
and allied chemical products. Since our listing on  
the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) in 1987,  
we have successfully grown our international footprint  
and have an established presence on five continents  
and in more than 35 countries across the globe.

From our head office in Sandton, Gauteng, South Africa,  
our passionate team of specialists continues to innovate  
and delight our customers with exceptional service and  
the delivery of our trusted high-quality product range,  
which is categorised below. 

At Spanjaard, our products are synonymous with quality. 
This is supported by our ISO 9001 Quality Management 
certification, our Food Safety Assessment (FSA) certification, 
as well as our registration, evaluation and restriction of 
chemicals (REACH) compliance, as required by European 
Union regulations.

Our technically proficient in-house research and 
development team continues to produce a superior range 
of products and solutions that provide complete peace 
of mind in meeting the specialised, high-performance 
requirements of both leading industry experts and 
everyday consumers alike.

In addition to our core business, we have a highly 
regarded and dedicated food aerosol production facility, 
making Spanjaard the supplier of choice for a variety of 
trusted and well-known household food brands to the 
local and international markets.

We continue to partner with these brands, successfully 
delivering on numerous ongoing contracts while growing  
our food business.

We are Spanjaard — a leading manufacturer and global 
supplier of superior quality products, with a proven track 
record of delivering excellence and exceeding 
expectations, since 1960.

  AUTOMOTIVE 

Our extensive range of automotive products is the choice of 
motorsport professionals and automotive experts. Products 
include cleaners and degreasers, as well as emergency 
products and multi-purpose lubricants, specially formulated 
to care for vehicles from the engine and combustion 
chamber to tyres and windscreen.

  HOUSEHOLD 

We manufacture a range of household products 
including, but not limited to: multi-purpose lubricants, 
heat-resistant paints, leather treatment as well as cleaners 
and hand cleaners.

  INDUSTRIAL  
AND MINING

From the construction industry to manufacturing and 
mining, our tried and tested products are used in the 
maintenance and preventative maintenance of large 
equipment and machinery, delivering superior quality 
and results.

  OUTDOOR  
AND LEISURE

Our range of products is ideal for use in outdoor and leisure. 
Whether you enjoy barbecues, fishing, outdoor adventure, 
cycling or road-tripping, we have a product suited to your 
needs. Our products range from: puncture repair, fishing 
tackle protector and multi-purpose lubricants to cleaners, 
heat resistant paints and much more.

2018 2017
South Africa 84 77

Asia 6 11

Africa 6 6

Europe 3 5

Rest of the world 1 1

Revenue by geographical market (%)

2018 2017
Special 
lubricants and 
allied chemicals

95 93

Anti-friction 
powders

2 3

Other 3 4

Outer ring (2018)

Inner ring (2017)

Outer ring (2018)

Inner ring (2017)

Revenue by operating segment (%)
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GROUP OVERVIEW



  MARINE 

These products are formulated for the maintenance and 
preventative maintenance of machinery and equipment 
used in the marine industry. Our range is listed in a number 
of leading international marine catalogues including 
ShipServ, ISSA and IMPA.

 MOTORCYCLE 

Formulated to ensure optimum performance and 
maintenance, our motorcycle range includes air filter 
oil and spray, mousse lubricant, fork oils, cleaners and 
multi-purpose lubricants.

 FOOD GRADE 

The products in this range are widely used in the food 
manufacturing sector, and include NSF-H1 certified 
products that offer safe and non-toxic lubricants for  
use in food and drink processing facilities.

  NON-FLAMMABLE 
AEROSOLS

Our wide range of non-flammable aerosols is well  
known and used in the automotive, industrial, mining  
and marine sectors.

OUR GLOBAL FOOTPRINT
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1 2DIVERSIFIED 
INCOME STREAMS

New product development

Enhance existing products

Customers in new and existing 
markets

Geographical and market  
share expansion

MARKETING 
AND BRAND 
DEVELOPMENT

Market research and analysis

Marketing communications

Brand positioning

Corporate sponsorships

5 6FINANCIAL 
FLEXIBILITY

Efficient use of resources

Pricing strategy freedom

Healthy cash flow 

New products and markets

MANAGEMENT  
FOR TOMORROW

Motivated and effective workforce

Talent attraction and retention

Skills development and training

Succession planning

3 4INVEST IN IDEAS 
AND EQUIPMENT

Product research and 
development

Technology and expertise

Maintenance of plant  
and equipment

Capital expenditure

COMPLY  
TO COMPETE

Good corporate governance

Improve/enhance broad-based 
black economic empowerment 
and employment equity

Regulatory, legislative and 
accreditation compliance

Environmentally-conscious

6
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Our approach to risk management is to accurately 
identify and assess the probability and potential 
impact of our main risks in the context of achieving 
our objectives as a business. Accordingly, the risks 
facing Spanjaard are compiled in a risk register, 
with the respective mitigation actions allocated 
to each risk. Our main risks are rated individually 
in terms of their magnitude and likelihood, 
with the understanding that ratings may change 
during the year in the course of business activities 
within the greater operating environment.

As a function of good corporate governance, 
risk management is fundamental in formulating our 
business strategy, and in setting objectives to deliver 
on our strategy. By correctly understanding and 
managing risk, we can create improved certainty 
and confidence in the sustainability of the business 
for our employees, shareholders and investors, 
customers, suppliers and other stakeholders.

Our risks are classified as either strategic or 
operational. Strategic risks refer to possible 
sources of loss that may occur during the process 
of executing our strategy. Operational risks may 
lead to loss due to variables including input 
costs, demand or management. Our largest risks 
broadly fall into the below areas set out below: 

WORKING  
CAPITAL

Our manufacturing operations are 
capital intensive, requiring significant 
investment in stock, and ultimately 
necessitating intense management of 
our finance facilities. As this remains a 
key focus for management, improved 
performance over time will mitigate 
the risk.

REGULATORY 
COMPLIANCE  

The South African and global 
environments are becoming 
increasingly regulated in terms of 
environmental, governance, privacy, 
financial and corporate legislation. 
Therefore, our management has spent 
a great deal of time and resources 
complying with international 
and local requirements. We will 
continue to systematically work 
through all relevant legislations and 
regulations, under the auspices of 
our respective Board Committees.

SUCCESSION 
PLANNING

The unexpected passing of our former 
CEO has highlighted the need and 
importance of having a formalised 
succession plan in place for key staff. 
Management will prioritise this during 
the coming financial year.

BROAD-BASED 
BLACK ECONOMIC 
EMPOWERMENT

Our historically inadequate B-BBEE 
scorecard rating has impacted on 
our ability to generate revenue 
growth. We are fully committed 
to the transformation of the South 
African economy, and are executing 
a B-BBEE implementation plan with 
specific focus on our deficient 
elements, namely skills development, 
preferential procurement and 
enterprise development.

INSURANCE 
 

Due to an increased focus on 
businesses with a similar fire risk 
profile to ours, we have had to seek 
an alternative solution to mitigate 
these risks. A number of alternatives 
were considered including the 
upgrade of our sprinkler system, 
finding alternative premises or 
outsourcing the warehousing and 
distribution function completely. 
To this end, we have entered 
into an agreement with DHL to 
outsource our warehousing and 
distribution function. This in turn 
will ensure adequate insurance 
cover in the future, while freeing 
up additional resources that can 
be used more effectively.

PRODUCT 
DEVELOPMENT

The fast-changing world around us 
requires that we develop products that 
are relevant now, and will be, into the 
future. We constantly monitor poor-
selling products, and replace them with 
new relevant products — in this regard, 
we have a number of product launches 
planned for the 2019 financial year.

7
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Introduction
Our stakeholders are people, groups and institutions 
that affect, or are affected by, our daily business 
activities and processes, to varying extents and in 
different ways. Our key stakeholders are our employees, 
customers, shareholders, financiers and bankers, 
suppliers, communities, trade unions, and government.

We interact with, or engage, our stakeholders in a variety 
of ways, from formalised, structured channels of 
engagement, to everyday, informal methods that are less 
structured. Our engagements can either be frequent or 
infrequent, as determined by the respective requirements 
of each stakeholder group.

Trade unions
Currently, about 26% of our employees 
are members of the Chemical, Energy, 
Paper, Printing, Wood and Allied 
Workers’ Union (CEPPWAWU), but 
not part of a bargaining council. Our 
relationship with the union is stable, 
and we have a formal agreement in 
place. During the year under review, we 
conducted face-to-face, annual union 
negotiations with CEPPWAWU which 
were concluded without incident.

Government
We are currently dealing with an 
enquiry from the Department of 
Labour, pertaining to sections of the 
Employment Equity Act. We remain 
confident that this matter will be 
expediently and adequately resolved. 

Shareholders
Engaging with our shareholders is 
important, and takes place in person 
and formally at our annual general 
meetings. Other less formal contact is 
made on an ad hoc basis, as and when 
required. Although these engagements 
are less frequent, we as management 
avail ourselves to shareholders’ 
questions or concerns at all times.

Customers
Our customers are the lifeblood of 
our business, and large distributors, 
in particular, have always been vital to 
our operations, as they represent a main 
route to market for our products, and 
sustain our sales and manufacturing 
volumes. We engage our customers 
formally and informally, face-to-face as 
well as electronically and telephonically. 

Following the passing of the Company’s 
founder and CEO, Robert Spanjaard, 
we engaged with our customers, to 
communicate the stability and future 
direction of the business. Likewise, 
we met in person with customers to 
communicate the new CEO and  
Marketing Director appointments.

Employees
Our employees are our most important 
stakeholder; their dedication and energy 
turns our plans and strategy into the 
reality of doing business. We engage 
our employees on a daily basis, in a 
wide variety of interactions, formally 
and informally. We engage face-to-face, 
in groups or individually, via interactive 
meetings, training sessions, consultations 
or performance appraisals. We also 
engage our employees telephonically  
and electronically via email.

At year-end, our total staff complement 
was 109 employees, which will reduce 
slightly after outsourcing our warehousing 
and distribution function to DHL. We 
formally and transparently engaged 
with all affected employees during this 
process, and all retrenchment packages 
were legal, voluntary and appropriate 
in terms of market rates. To prevent any 
misinformation, we also engaged with 
unaffected employees, in order to explain 
the nature, process and rationale of 
the outsourcing.

Sponsorships 

We are passionate sponsors of several 
professional motorsport teams. These 
too are stakeholders, who trust and use 
our products at the highest levels of 
competitive racing, including the Dakar 
Rally. The world of motorsport is a 
natural fit for Spanjaard, and is the 
ultimate “laboratory” in which to test  
our products’ performance and gain 
feedback from experts. 
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS



R’000 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Revenue  117 678  120 055  125 825  119 097  111 861 

(Loss)/profit from operations (4 300)  607  8 191  (1 708)  5 329 

Finance cost  (1 131)  (564)  (1 941)  (2 532)  (1 552)

Interest expense — net  (1 029)  (871)  (1 287)  (1 231)  (1 235)

(Profit)/loss on foreign exchange  (102)  307  (654)  (1 301)  (317)

(Loss)/profit before tax  (5 431)  43  6 250  (4 240)  3 777 

Income tax income/(expense)  897  370  (1 244)  2 083  (1 416)

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations  (4 534)  413  5 006  (2 157)  2 361 

Profit from discontinued operations — — — —  97 

 (4 534)  413  5 006  (2 157)  2 458 

Dividend declared — —  (1 303)  (2 280)  (2 199)

(Loss)/profit after dividend  (4 534)  413  3 703  (4 437)  259 

Total (loss)/earnings and diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary 
share (cents)  (55,7) 5,1 61,5 (12,9) 30,2

Total headline (loss)/earnings and diluted headline (loss)/earnings 
per ordinary share (cents)  (54,1) 6,2 62,1 (12,9) 19,1

Net asset value per ordinary share (cents)  502,7  558,6  540,8  498,8  517,1 

Dividend declared per ordinary share (cents)

— interim/dividend relating to prior periods 0,0 0,0 —  10,0  10,0 

— final 0,0 0,0  16,0  18,0  12,0 
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FIVE-YEAR REVIEW



Prof DP van der Nest (49)
Independent Non-executive Chairman
Qualifications: BCom (Accounting), Dip (HE), BCom (Hons),  
MCom (Economics), DTech
Appointment date: November 2006
Committee membership: Audit Committee,  
Remuneration Committee

Professor van der Nest has extensive experience in Corporate 
Governance. He has served, and still serves, as the chair and 
member of various governance committees in the private  
and public sectors in South Africa, and internationally.
He is currently Head of the Department of Auditing at the 
Tshwane University of Technology.

Kentin Welgemoed (35)
Chief Executive Officer
Qualifications: BCom (Accounting Sciences),  
BCompt (Hons), CA(SA)
Appointment date: September 2015

Kentin qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 2010.  
He initially joined Spanjaard in July 2015 as Operations 
Manager, and was later appointed to the Board as 
Operations Director. In September 2017, Kentin was 
appointed Acting CEO of Spanjaard and CEO in November. 
He is a member of SAICA and the Institute of Directors.

Ian Saunders (33)
Financial Director
Qualifications: CA(SA), BCompt (Hons)
Appointment date: May 2016

Ian qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 2010.  
He joined Spanjaard in March 2016 as Financial 
Manager, having gained five and three years’ 
experience in finance and auditing respectively.  
He was appointed to the Spanjaard Board in 2016. 
He is a member of SAICA and the Institute 
of Directors.

Graham Cort (42)
Executive Director
Qualifications: Senior Certificate
Appointment date: February 2006

Graham joined Spanjaard’s Consumer/Automotive 
division as a sales representative in 1996. He was then 
assigned to Spanjaard’s Industrial/Marine division, also 
in a sales capacity. He was promoted to National Sales 
Manager Industrial/Marine division before becoming 
Spanjaard’s National Sales Manager.
In January 2006, Graham was appointed to lead 
the International Sales and Logistics division, and 
promoted to Executive Director in February 2006. 
He is a member of the Institute of Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS



Clinton Palmer (47)
Executive Director
Qualifications: BSc, MSc (Biotechnology), MBA
Appointment date: October 2008
Committee membership: Social and Ethics Committee

Clinton has 20 years’ experience in a variety of technical 
positions within the chemical sector. He is currently head of 
Spanjaard’s technical operations, including manufacturing 
operations, all new and existing product developments and 
enhancements, as well as the Company’s QA and QC 
functions. He is a member of the Institute of Directors.

Bernard Montgomery (68)
Independent Non-executive Director
Appointment date: November 2005
Committee membership: Audit Committee

Bernard is a stockbroker and director of a number 
of companies. He is a member of the Institute of 
Stockbrokers and was involved in listing Spanjaard 
on the JSE in 1987.

Shaila Hari (46)
Independent Non-executive Director
Qualifications: BCompt (Hons), Public Sector Governance 
— UNISA SBL
Appointment date: November 2011
Committee membership: Audit Committee (Chairperson), 
Social and Ethics Committee (Chairperson), Remuneration 
Committee (Chairperson)

Shaila is experienced in corporate governance in the public  
and private sectors, including gaming regulatory and aviation.  
She holds various non-executive directorship positions  
including Deputy Chairperson of the Gauteng Gambling  
Board and Chairperson of the Gaming Committee. She was  
a non-executive director of the Air Traffic Navigation Services 
(ATNS) until September 2017 and a member of the South African 
Pharmacy Council. She is a member of the Institute of Directors.

Tracy Stewart (35)
Marketing Director
Qualifications: BA (Marketing Communications) (Hons)
Appointment date: October 2017
Committee membership: Social and Ethics Committee

Tracy has 12 years’ experience in marketing, media and  
research-related fields and has served in management  
positions for a number of companies. Her experience also 
includes independent consulting specialising in marketing 
strategy and implementation. Tracy was an independent 
marketing consultant for Spanjaard from March 2016 and 
joined the Company full time in October 2017, and was 
simultaneously appointed as Marketing Director. She has  
an honours degree in Marketing Communications and  
is in charge of marketing for Spanjaard.
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“ MANAGEMENT FOR 
TOMORROW ” 

Kentin Welgemoed 
Chief Executive Officer

Ian Saunders 
Financial Director
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EXECUTIVE REVIEW



The availability of raw material inputs is becoming 
somewhat inconsistent in South Africa, as suppliers run low 
or out of stock more often than in previous years, impacting 
production, stock counts, lost sales and holding costs. 
We are closely monitoring this situation as it develops.

A significant development during the year under review 
was China’s enforcement of its regulatory environment 
with regard to transporting hazardous chemicals, after 
experiencing a number of high-profile environmental 
incidents in recent years. This development affects our 
business activities in that region and we are taking risk 
mitigating steps where possible.

Performance
The year under review was challenging as our export 
volumes decreased from 23% of total revenue to 16%, 
which has impacted our overall financial performance. 
These lower export volumes were largely as a result of 
our historical approach to exports, which management 
has addressed, and is fully discussed below under strategy 
in action.

It is pleasing to report that we achieved significant overall 
volume growth of 7,5%, which somewhat offset the lower 
export volumes, although sales revenue was flat year-on-year. 
This was partly due to a strategic price reduction decision 
taken early in the year to increase our competitiveness in 
the market, and our increased market share and volume 
growth was therefore achieved at lower overall margins. 

We are pleased to report a 15% growth year-on-year in 
the food products sector of our business. We diversified 
our customer base significantly during the year, which 
has assisted in this growth. We are encouraged by this 
performance and anticipate further growth in our food 
products in the coming year and beyond. 

In the consumer sector, improved sales seen in the 
automotive spares businesses were encouraging. Sales in 
the industrial sector were lower, as many of our customers 
in the mining sector have been impacted by rightsizing 
activities and shaft closures for a number of years. We 
regrettably lost a contract on certain power stations in 
the prior year, which continues to negatively affect our 
industrial sector performance. 

We are also pleased to report that a large quantity of 
aerosol cans, initially manufactured for another contract, 
has been successfully repurposed and has been fully 
utilised. This has now resolved a legacy issue, in terms of 
related storage requirements and the recovery of materials 
cost. Furthermore, we can report the end of a loss-making 
contract for a major retailer, and we have subsequently 
filled that production capacity by manufacturing for 
more profitable orders.

25 September 2017 will be remembered for the sad passing 
of Robert Spanjaard, who was the founder and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Spanjaard Group of Companies 
since 1960. We pay tribute to his tenure of 57 years at the 
helm, and commend his tireless devotion to the business.

We, as Spanjaard’s executive directors and management,  
are now tasked with leading the Company, and establishing 
a base upon which to guide the business into the future. 
We have deployed the skills of our management team to 
look for ways to modernise and explore additional growth 
markets, using additional, new product ranges as well as 
unlocking the potential of products that have been 
historically misperceived in the market.

Operating environment
We are encouraged by the recent, positive changes in 
South Africa’s administration, where political and policy 
uncertainty has, for a number of past years, impacted 
negatively on investor and general business confidence, 
and society as a whole. This is evident as businesses are 
more circumspect and manage their stock levels cautiously. 
This in turn has translated into lower quantities being 
ordered by certain customers, compared to their historical 
stock purchasing patterns. Although positive with the 
rand’s recent strength, currency volatility will continue 
to affect the business.

Our local competitor group has been subjected to high 
levels of acquisitive activity by local and international 
players. While the impact on the market is not yet clear, 
we are encouraged by local demand and the potential 
for international growth. However, the sector is becoming 
smaller with fewer, although larger, competitors remaining. 
Larger volumes of cheaper Asian goods have been imported 
during the year under review, due to local currency strength, 
thereby increasing competition.

Certain local mines have renewed their environmental 
focus by using imported products from the USA, although 
in practice, the performance of these products has yet to 
be determined. We remain positive in this regard, as mining 
customers have embarked on cost-cutting drives, which 
could translate into demand for our proven, locally-
manufactured products, which are more attractively 
priced, and not subject to local currency volatility.

“  WE ARE ENCOURAGED 
BY LOCAL DEMAND 
AND THE POTENTIAL 
FOR INTERNATIONAL 
GROWTH.”
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Our cash position, although tight, continued to be very 
well managed, as were our costs. Our debtors were firmly 
under control, with excellent collections and bad debts 
being insignificant at R16 000 for the year under review. 
We take a conservative approach in this regard, and 
customers are required to achieve a clear credit rating 
from Credit Guarantee before being supplied. As a 
cost-conscious business, our head office costs have 
been very well controlled, reducing our administration 
costs by 3% across the Group, with all write-offs included.

Strategy in action
Our new management is currently considering the 
business model and is developing strategies that will take 
the business forward. Our risks and business strategies are 
interrelated, and to this end, our focus is on improving 
what we do on a daily basis in our operations.

Locally, our view is that Spanjaard is gaining market share, 
with a significant opportunity to grow the size and scope 
of our international presence. We anticipate that our new 
export and distributor philosophy will add meaningful 
value to our business. Likewise, our executive director 
dedicated to international sales, together with our CEO, 
will concentrate on growing Spanjaard’s international 
business and footprint, facilitated by the resources we 
have redirected for this purpose.

Our Spanjaard brand is well positioned and highly 
recognised in South Africa, and complemented by our 
competitive pricing strategy, particularly in the consumer 
sector. Furthermore, our products are attractive in the 
industrial sector, where our main competitors are 
international companies that are subject to impacts and 
costs related to importing and exchange rate volatility. 
While our mainstream grease products face competition 
from a number of large multinational petrochemical 
companies, we meet the challenge directly with our 
specialised product formulations, structured pricing 
and marketing initiatives.

For more information on our strategy, refer to page 6 
of the integrated annual report.

Export market potential

We have reviewed and restructured our outdated 
distributorship model, by changing our selection criteria 
when choosing partners in international markets. This 
allows industry experts to position our products alongside 
our competition where our competitive advantages are 
easily communicated. To enhance export volume growth, 
we have appointed a competent, qualified and motivated 
representative to drive our business interests in the 
Far-East region. The new appointee is a Hong Kong 
resident, and has strong local market and regulatory 
knowledge and expertise. Following the new appointment, 
we are pleased to report, subsequent to year-end, our 
first major order from a new Taiwanese customer, with 
strong indications of further related business from 
distributors in China and Singapore. 

Outsourced warehousing and distribution

In order to mitigate risk and to streamline our operations, 
we have entered into an agreement to outsource our 
warehousing and distribution function to DHL, an 
international shipping and logistics company. The move 
also necessitates a reduction in distribution staff costs and 
we have managed this process to ensure minimal impact 
on our employees. These costs are included in the current 
financial year results. We anticipate that the outsourcing 
will improve customer satisfaction, and allow management 
to focus on the core operations of the business once the 
agreement becomes operational later in 2018.

Being environmentally-conscious

We are mindful of our responsibility to limit the impact of 
our business activities on the environment. To deal with 
these matters effectively and professionally, we have a 
service contract in place with a specialist environmental 
waste management partner. Our manufacturing site uses 
borehole water, and all waste metal cans, tins and other 
waste are recycled. Our manufacturing processes use 
environmentally-friendly propellants and chemicals where 
possible, and have done so for many years. Climate change 
is a concern to industry as a whole. Severe weather has 
impacted us on multiple occasions, delaying both import 
and export shipments.

“  OUR NEW 
MANAGEMENT IS 
CONSIDERING THE 
BUSINESS MODEL 
AND DEVELOPING  
NEW STRATEGIES.” “  WE HAVE 

OUTSOURCED OUR 
WAREHOUSING AND 
DISTRIBUTION TO 
MITIGATE RISK AND 
STREAMLINE OUR 
OPERATIONS.”
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Compliance and accreditation
From a regulatory perspective, aside from challenges 
affecting the transport of dangerous chemicals in China, we 
have also had to invest a significant amount of time and funds 
in compliance with certain European Union (EU) regulations. 
Protecting humans, animals and the environment from 
harmful chemicals is at the heart of the EU regulation, namely 
Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of 
Chemicals (REACH). REACH compliance is a requirement 
for doing business in the EU, and the process was overseen 
by our Technical Director.

Our manufacturing capabilities are supported by our 
ISO 9001 Quality Management certification, our Food 
Safety Assessment (FSA) certification, as well as our 
REACH compliance. In terms of health and safety, we 
continued with all legally-required compliance training 
such as fire marshal and first aid training. Furthermore, 
a number of internal policies were approved by 
management and put in place during the year 
under review.

Interaction with the Department of Labour (DoL)

We are currently dealing with an enquiry from the Department 
of Labour, pertaining to sections of the Employment Equity 
Act. We remain confident that this matter will be expediently 
and adequately resolved. Refer to note 34 of the financial 
statements for more information relating to this matter.

Corporate governance
Due to the requirements of King IV, our corporate 
governance report has been bolstered to ensure a more 
enhanced disclosure of information. Our Board Charter 
and board committee terms of reference have been 
reviewed and amended where necessary. Refer to page 
19 of this integrated annual report for a comprehensive 
discussion on the Company’s governance.

Changes to the Board 
As mentioned, Robert Spanjaard, the Company’s founder, 
sadly passed away on 25 September 2017. The Board 
welcomed the appointment of Kentin Welgemoed as the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 
3 November 2017. Kentin joined Spanjaard as Manager 
of Operations in July 2015 and was appointed Executive 
Director: Operations in September 2015. On 12 October 
2017, Tracy Stewart was appointed as the Marketing 
Director and joined the Board on this date.

Corporate sponsorships

In keeping with our heritage at Spanjaard, we remain 
active in our corporate sponsorships of stakeholders in 
the exciting world of motorsport. There are many benefits 
of corporate sponsorships, including brand and marketing 
exposure, as well as building technical credibility and trust 
in our products in the most extreme conditions. Our 
sponsorships are discussed in further detail on page 34.

Coppermet closure
Coppermet (Pty) Ltd had been a loss-making business 
for Spanjaard for a number of years, and officially closed 
when operations were discontinued, subsequent to 
year-end, at the end of April 2018. Coppermet supplied 
specialist graphite powders for friction industry products, 
including brake pads. Coppermet was unable to remain 
competitive due to the availability of cheaper alternative 
materials, particularly those from China. Coppermet will 
continue  to trade in limited capacities. 

The positive impact of this closure is largely financial, and 
sharpens the focus on our core, more profitable businesses. 
We have made provision in our financial results for stock 
write-offs, asset impairments and retrenchment costs.

Skills development and training
The focus of our skills development and training efforts is on 
developing black employees and unemployed members of 
our local communities. We are in the process of conducting 
a skills assessment, followed by an implementation 
programme based on the outcome of the assessment. 

 
We have targeted our unskilled employees for development, 
many of whom are black, with supervisory training a priority 
as well as the provision of office management skills for 
selected individuals. In terms of improving our B-BBEE 
scorecard performance, we will seek to train disabled 
people, as well as unemployed people through learnerships 
and other initiatives during the 2019 financial year.

“  OUR SKILLS 
DEVELOPMENT AND 
TRAINING EFFORTS 
FOCUS ON DEVELOPING 
BLACK EMPLOYEES.”
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Risks and opportunities
Regarding risk management, we at Spanjaard are somewhat 
conservative in our approach to doing business, and are 
averse to taking risks of a serious nature. During the year 
under review, management conducted a comprehensive risk 
analysis, the purpose of which was to review and accurately 
identify all risks facing the business, and articulate our 
mitigating responses via a formalised risk register. The main 
risks facing Spanjaard are listed on page 7.

 
When doing business in cross-border countries, we 
mitigate the business risk by insuring our debtors and by 
arranging advance payments with customers. In South 
Africa, our debtors are also insured as part of our overall 
risk strategy, as detailed above.

To a large extent, the rate of technological change in our 
sphere of manufacturing relates to automation. Despite its 
merits, automation technology is incredibly expensive and 
poses a conundrum in terms of investment cost versus 
projections of future growth. Currently, our position  
regarding automation investment is to consider our capital 
equipment requirements and priorities, within the context  
of affordability. Furthermore, we are able to significantly 
increase our manufacturing capacity, as and when 
required, by implementing additional shifts in our 
production facilities.

Transformation
Our current, non-compliant B-BBEE status is a risk in terms  
of securing certain local contracts, and the impact of this  
is most evident in the industrial sector, where customers 
include mines, power utilities, and a number of ports.  
To mitigate this risk, we are working with a third-party 
consultant to improve our B-BBEE status, to gain better 
access to opportunities in the private and public sector.

With regard to B-BBEE, our main concern at present is 
becoming compliant as a business in terms of our scorecard. 
A major focus is improving our skills development and training 
aspect through investment, as this has been somewhat 
lacking in recent years. Where possible, and without 
compromising on our quality or service levels, we are also 
investing funds in improving our performance in preferential 
procurement, enterprise and supplier development.

Furthermore, we are in the process of identifying local 
partnering opportunities with small and micro-enterprises.  
In the coming year, we hope to begin the implementation of 
our own enterprise and supplier development programme. 
These and other related initiatives present us with a significant 
opportunity to improve and grow as a business, while 
embracing the spirit in which the B-BBEE legislation and 
regulations were enacted.

In terms of our socio-economic development (SED) 
activities for the year, we provided bursaries for previously 
disadvantaged students to attend Pretoria Boys High 
School and donated Spanjaard products to charities 
including orphanages and Boys Town. We are reviewing 
our SED programme and are considering other initiatives 
for the year ahead.

Capital expenditure 
We have commenced a programme to replace our aging 
manufacturing machinery with our first order of aerosol 
gassing equipment arriving shortly after year-end. The 
equipment was commissioned during May 2018 and we 
expect to see improvements in our packaging process  
and significant savings in maintenance costs. We are also 
planning to automate a significant portion of our bottling 
plant later in the year. 

 
Post year-end events
There were no other significant post year-end events that  
have not been discussed already in this report.

“  MANAGEMENT 
CONDUCTED A 
COMPREHENSIVE 
RISK ANALYSIS 
DURING THE YEAR.”

“  WE HAVE 
COMMENCED A 
PROGRAMME TO 
REPLACE OUR 
MANUFACTURING 
MACHINERY.”
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acknowledge the late Robert Spanjaard’s contributions 
during his many years of leadership. As Spanjaard’s 
founder and CEO for 57 years, Robert’s management 
was characterised by his passion for business, people 
and manufacturing. His invaluable contribution to the 
Company will be missed.

Our sincere gratitude goes to the people of Spanjaard — 
our employees — for a year of dedication and hard 
work. We give thanks to our loyal customers, for their 
commitment to our business and the many products 
we proudly manufacture.
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have shown in our Company’s management, leadership 
and future. Our sincere thanks also to our financiers and 
bankers, suppliers and communities for the work they 
do in support of our business.

We welcome the new appointments of Kentin Welgemoed 
as CEO, and Tracy Stewart as Marketing Director — we look 
forward to working and growing the business together. 
Finally, our sincere thanks to our Chairman and the Board  
of Directors for their oversight, wisdom and guidance  
during a challenging year.

Kentin Welgemoed 
Chief Executive Officer 
31 May 2018 

Ian Saunders 
Financial Director 
31 May 2018

Outlook and prospects
In recent years, Spanjaard’s product development has 
been lacking, with very few new products being launched. 
We look forward to the coming year, as we have various 
product launches in the pipeline both for the automotive 
market as well as for the manufacturing segment. In addition, 
we see significant potential for our new range of products 
in the international market, and are eager to see the 
benefits of this. 

We are also looking to extend our range of high-volume 
lower margin fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG), which 
are products that we manufacture for various retailers to 
further diversify our revenue streams. 

Going forward, we will look for further cost management 
benefits and opportunities that our new warehousing and 
distribution arrangement with DHL could provide.

Our new philosophy on offshore distributors represents  
the first significant change to strategy in terms of our 
international business, which we are positive about 
and  will monitor closely during the year ahead.

While our operational footprint was unchanged during 
the year, strong interest in our products has come, post 
year-end, from South Asian countries including Bangladesh 
and Sri Lanka. This new interest is beginning to translate 
into revenue, which should bode well in terms of new 
business during  the coming year. In Angola, we secured 
a new order from a government-owned petrochemical 
company, which has revived that area of our business. 

We will continue to seek out opportunities to participate in 
tender processes, to further expand on and enhance our 
product and geographical diversification, as appropriate.  
Our technical department is working on new product 
development in environmentally-friendly products.

“  WE SEE SIGNIFICANT 
POTENTIAL FOR 
OUR RANGE OF 
PRODUCTS IN THE 
INTERNATIONAL 
MARKET.”
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GOOD 
CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 
IMPROVES THE 
WAY WE DO 
BUSINESS
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Ethical leadership and governance
The Board of Directors and management is committed to 
applying the principles of good governance as contained 
in the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South 
Africa 2016 (King IV). Under the stewardship of the Board, 
an open governance process is managed through which 
stakeholders may derive assurance that the Group is being 
managed in an ethical and disciplined manner according 
to risk parameters based on the principles of transparency, 
accountability, responsibility and fairness.

The Board must:

 — Act as the focal point for, and custodian of, corporate 
governance by managing its relationship with management, 
the shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company 
along sound corporate governance principles.

 — Appreciate that strategy, risk, performance and 
sustainability are inseparable and to give effect to this by:
 – Contributing to and approving the strategy.
 – Satisfying itself that the strategy and business plans 

do not give rise to risks that have not been thoroughly 
assessed by management.

 – Identifying key performance and risk areas.
 – Ensuring that the strategy will result in sustainable 

outcomes.
 – Considering sustainability as a business opportunity 

that guides strategy formulation.
 — Provide effective leadership on an ethical foundation.
 — Ensure that the Company is and is seen to be a responsible 

corporate citizen by having regard to not only the financial 
aspects of the business of the Company but also the 
impact that business operations have on the environment 
and the society within which it operates.

 — Ensure that the Company’s ethics are managed 
effectively.

 — Ensure that the Company has an effective and 
independent Audit and Risk Committee.

 — Be responsible for the governance of risk.
 — Be responsible for information technology (IT) 

governance.
 — Ensure that the Company complies with applicable 

laws and considers adherence to non-binding rules 
and standards.

 — Ensure that there is an effective risk-based 
internal audit.

 — Appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect 
the Company’s reputation.

 — Ensure the integrity of the Company’s integrated 
annual report.

 — Act in the best interests of the Company by ensuring 
that individual directors:
 – Adhere to legal standards of conduct.
 – Are permitted to take independent advice 

in connection with their duties following an 
agreed procedure.

 – Disclose real or perceived conflicts to the Board 
and deal with them accordingly.

 – Deal in securities only in accordance with the policy 
adopted by the Board.

 — Commence business rescue proceedings as soon 
as the Company is financially distressed.

 — Evaluate the performance of the chief executive officer.

A code of conduct exists to which all the directors of 
the Company subscribe that sets out the standards and 
principles to which the Board commits to strive towards 
when dealing with stakeholders namely shareholders, 
customers, suppliers or employees. The Board and the 
Company’s employees conduct its business with integrity 
and every effort is made to create a culture and value 
system that directors, employees and all stakeholders 
are proud to be associated with.

Board of Directors

Composition, independence and diversity

The Board of Directors is based on a unitary structure and 
due to the relatively small size of the Company the Board 
consists of five executive directors and three independent 
non-executive directors, which is considered adequate. 
The Group has a policy to ensure a clear balance of power 
and authority at board level, so that no one director has 
unfettered powers of decision making.

As at year-end the Board comprised the following members:

 — Prof. DP van der Nest (Independent Non-executive 
Chairman)

 — K Welgemoed (Chief Executive Officer)
 — I Saunders (Financial Director)
 — GF Cort (Executive Director)
 — CKT Palmer (Executive Director)
 — TN Stewart (Marketing Director)
 — S Hari (Independent Non-executive Director)
 — BL Montgomery (Independent Non-executive Director)

Biographies of the abovementioned directors can be 
found on pages 10 and 11 of this report.

The chief executive officer and the financial director are 
ex officio members of the Board.

The Board continuously assesses the independence of 
its Non-executive Directors by monitoring the Company’s 
shareholding, interest in contracts and the declaration 
of conflicts of interest.
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Spanjaard supports the objective of gender and race 
diversity at Board level. When the Board considers the 
appointment of new directors, cognisance of its gender 
and race diversity policy is taken. Special attention is 
given to recruiting women as well as representatives from 
designated groups as per the Employment Equity Act 
with the required skills and competence as required by the 
Board at the time when a vacancy avails itself. The Board 
has set the voluntary target of women representatives on 
the Board at 20%, which it has met and exceeded at 25%. 
The Board has set the voluntary target of representatives 
from designated groups on the Board at 20%. Spanjaard 
currently has representation of 12,5% and will strive to 
meet the target when further vacancies arise.

The Board is satisfied with the mix of skills, knowledge, 
experience, diversity and independence of its members.

Appointment, rotation and election

New directors appointed to the Board follow a formal and 
transparent process. The Board considers that the number 
of directors at any time and the composition of the Board is 
critical for the success of the Company and it acknowledges 
that the composition could vary from time to time depending 
on the circumstances of the Company.

The total number of directors is determined by the Board 
under the constitution or by shareholders in a general 
meeting. The Board considers the skills and experience 
required for it to fulfil its duties given the scale and 
complexity of the Company’s operations. Given the existing 
scale and complexity of the Company’s operations, the 
Board believes that it is impractical to appoint a Nomination 
Committee. Accordingly, the full Board assumes responsibility 
for the selection and appointment of directors. Currently 
the Board consists of five executive directors and three 
independent non-executive directors.

Whether filling a vacancy or expanding the Board, the 
procedures applied by the Board include the selection of 
a panel of nominees. In compiling the panel of nominees, 
the Board draws on advice from external consultants 
and internal industry experience, when necessary.

Potential directors are approached by the Chairman of 
the Board and their interest in joining the Board, together 
with the responsibilities such an appointment entails, 
are discussed. Terms and conditions of the appointment, 
including the level of remuneration, are also 
communicated to the nominees.

If accepted, the Board appoints the new director(s) during 
the year, and that person(s) will then stand for election 
by shareholders at the next annual general meeting. 
Shareholders are provided with relevant information 
on the candidates for election.

DEPARTMENT  
HEADS

FINANCE SALES

WAREHOUSE

FACTORY

TECHNICAL

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

HEALTH  
AND SAFETY 
COMMITTEE

EMPLOYMENT 
EQUITY 
AND SKILLS 
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL AND ETHICS 
COMMITTEE

AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE
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In terms of the Company’s rotation policy the Non-executive 
Directors retire every three years and may offer themselves 
for re-election as per the Company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation. Shaila Hari retires by rotation at the annual 
general meeting and has offered herself for re-election.

Changes in directorate

During the year under review, Robert Spanjaard, the 
Company’s founder, sadly passed away on 25 September 
2017. His leadership and experience is sorely missed. The 
Board welcomed the appointment of Kentin Welgemoed 
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect 
from 3 November 2017. Kentin joined Spanjaard as Manager 
of Operations in July 2015 and was appointed Executive 
Director: Operations in September 2015.

On 12 October 2017, Tracy Stewart was appointed as the 
Marketing Director and joined the Board on this date.

Chairman of the Board

The Board Chairman is an independent non-executive 
director with a separate role and set of responsibilities to the 
CEO. The Chairman serves a three-year term from the date 
of appointment and is eligible for re-election. The Chairman 
must maximise the value of the Board, act as the link 
between the Company and the shareholders and represent 
the Board and act on the Board’s behalf between meetings.

The Chairman presides over all meetings of the Board, 
provides overall leadership and ensures that Board 
decisions are executed. In order to fulfil their duties, the 
Chairman ensures that Board members receive accurate, 
timely and clear information to perform effectively. The 
ethical tone of the Board is set by the Chairman who also 
manages conflicts of interest of his fellow members of the 
Board. The Chairman plays an active role in the selection 
process of Board members.

CEO

The Board delegates authority to the CEO who is in turn 
accountable to the Board for the development and successful 
implementation of the Group’s strategy and the overall 
management and performance of the Company. The CEO 
provides executive leadership and is charged with the 
effective management of all operations of the Company. 
The CEO may delegate or sub-delegate any operational 
matter not reserved for the Board or shareholders.

Director development and training

A formal induction programme is established for new 
directors appropriate to their experience to familiarise 
them with matters relating to our business, our strategy 
and current issues. Inexperienced directors are developed 
through mentorship programmes.

2018 Board meeting attendance
During the year directors attended Board meetings as follows:

Directors 29 May 2017 15 Sep 2017 12 Oct 2017 3 Nov 2017 26 Jan 2018
Total 

meetings
Total 

attended
% Meetings 

attended

RJW Spanjaard *
Former Chief Executive Officer

Yes No — — — 2 1 50

Prof DP van der Nest 
Independent Non-executive 
Chairman

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 5 5 100

K Welgemoed **
Chief Executive Officer

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 5 5 100

I Saunders 
Financial Director

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 5 5 100

GF Cort 
Executive

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 5 5 100

CKT Palmer 
Executive

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 5 5 100

TN Stewart ***
Marketing Director

— — Yes Yes Yes 3 3 100

S Hari 
Independent Non-executive

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 5 5 100

BL Montgomery 
Independent Non-executive

Yes No No Yes Yes 5 3 60

* Deceased 25 September 2017. ** Appointed as CEO 3 November 2017. *** Appointed as director 12 October 2017.
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Continuing professional development programmes are 
implemented which ensure that directors receive regular 
briefings on changes in risks, laws and the environment.

Meetings and procedures

The Board met five times during the year under review. 
The table on page 21 references the attendance of Board 
meetings. Members of senior management, assurance 
providers and professional advisors attend meetings by 
invitation only. The Company Secretary is the secretary 
to the Board. If the nominated Chairman of the Board is 
absent from a meeting, the members present must elect 
one of the members present to act as chairman.

The Chairman of the Board has access to the chief 
executive officer and the financial director as well as the 
Company Secretary prior to Board meetings to discuss 
matters of importance and to agree on the agenda.

The Board establishes an annual work plan to ensure 
that all relevant matters are covered by the agendas of 
the meetings planned for the year. The annual plan must 
ensure proper coverage of the matters laid out in the 
Board charter. More critical matters are attended to each 
year while other matters are dealt with on a rotation basis 
over a three-year period.

A detailed agenda together with supporting documentation 
is circulated at least one week prior to each meeting to the 
members of the Board and other invitees. Board members 
are obliged to be fully prepared for Board meetings in order 
to provide appropriate and constructive input on matters 
for discussion. The minutes are completed as soon as possible 
after the meeting and circulated to the Chairman and members 
of the Board for review thereof. The minutes are formally 
approved by the Board at its next scheduled meeting.

Board’s key focus areas of 2018

During the year under review, the Board underwent a process 
of consolidation following the death of the Company’s 
founder and erstwhile CEO, Robert Spanjaard. Kentin 
Welgemoed was appointed as the new CEO, as discussed 
above. Cost rationalisation and rightsizing was a key focus in 
light of Coppermet (Pty) Ltd ceasing to operate and the need 
for capital expenditure to update old equipment with new 
equipment to be commissioned in the 2019 financial year, 
was deliberated. The Company’s insurance cover was 
assessed and bolstered where needed.

Greater attention was given to the Company’s sales and 
distribution operations in the Far East which resulted in 
the appointment of a country manager for that region. 
As mentioned in the Executive Review, on page 15 and 
is explained in greater detail in note 34 of the financial 
statements, the Board had to deal with a matter arising 
from the Department of Labour surrounding the Company’s 
employment equity.

Board processes

Company Secretary

Shane Rothquel (41), the Company’s representative from 
Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited (Levitt 
Kirson), holds an LLB and is currently in his final year of 
coursework for his LLM (Corporate Law) at UNISA. Shane 
is currently focused on a short dissertation with a research 
focus area in directors’ and officers’ liability.

He has been a corporate secretarial consultant for 2,5 years, 
after a long career in legal practice. Shane will seek admission 
as an Attorney of the High Court in the near future. He also 
spent six years at Group Five assisting both the Group Legal 
and Compliance Director, and the Group Commercial Director.

The Board of Directors is satisfied that Levitt Kirson and 
Shane Rothquel have all the necessary qualifications 
and is an independent body to act appropriately as 
Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary is a juristic firm and the Board 
assessed and considered the firm as a whole and the 
individual assigned to Spanjaard. Accordingly, it is 
concluded that an arm’s length relationship with the 
Board and its Directors is maintained.

Board and committee effectiveness

The Board and its Committees recently concluded 
self-assessments and considers themselves effective.

Delegation of authority — 
Board Committees
The Board delegates certain functions to its well-structured 
Audit and Risk, Remuneration and Social and Ethics 
Committees without abdicating its own responsibilities. 
Delegation is formal and involves the following:

 — Formal terms of reference are established and approved 
for each committee of the Board.

 — The committees’ terms of reference are reviewed once 
a year.

 — The committees are appropriately constituted with due 
regard to the skills required by each committee.

 — The Board establishes a framework for the delegation 
of authority to management.

For more information on the Audit and Risk, Remuneration 
and Social and Ethics Committees refer to pages 24, 28 and 
32 respectively.
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EXCO

While retaining overall accountability, the Board has 
delegated to the CEO the authority to run the day-to-day 
affairs of the group. The EXCO aids the CEO in this task. 
The EXCO which consists of all executive directors, meets 
monthly to address all operational and financial matters of 
the Group.

As at year-end the EXCO comprised the following members:

 — K Welgemoed (Chief Executive Officer)
 — I Saunders (Financial Director)
 — GF Cort (Executive Director)
 — CKT Palmer (Executive Director)
 — TN Stewart (Marketing Director)

EXCO’s key focus areas of 2018

During the year, the EXCO focused on the Group’s sales, 
both local and foreign, achieving forecast budgets and 
cost cuttings, researching and developing new products, 
better marketing of the business to capitalise on existing 
and new opportunities, human resources management 
as well as matters of compliance.

In addition, it reviewed the Group’s policies and procedures 
and guided the Board in the consolidation of the Group 
after Robert Spanjaard’s passing. Matters pertaining to 
health and safety and production were also prioritised.

Board and Committee evaluations
The Board and all its committees undergo an annual 
self-assessment process using the Global Platform Appraisal 
Instrument. Results are summarised and reported on at the 
following board and committee meetings.

During the year, improvements were made especially in 
areas of good governance where King IV has guided the 
Board in improving governance matters which included 
many policies and procedures which were informal in the 
past that have now been formalised. Structural changes 
to the Board and its committees have also been made.

The outcome of the assessment performed and the report 
has been shared with the Board. Key matters have been 
addressed and an action plan has been put in place to 
address all outstanding key issues.

Directors’ dealings
Directors are free to purchase shares on the open market 
after obtaining approval and advance clearance from the 
Chairman of the Board in terms of paragraph 3.66 of the JSE 
Listings Requirements. The Chairman must receive clearance 
from the CEO prior to the purchase of shares. A Director 
may not deal in the Company’s shares when privy to price 
sensitive information and during closed periods.

Technology and information governance
The Board is of the opinion that an effective governance 
structure is in place. Executive management is mandated 
to improve the overall status of information technology 
governance within the Group.

Legal and regulatory compliance
The Group’s compliance with legislative and regulatory 
requirements including the JSE Listings Requirements, 
the Companies Act and other applicable legislation, as 
well as the application of the King IV recommendations 
is monitored by the Audit and Risk Committee and remains 
a standing agenda item for all committee meetings.

Focused attention was paid to the Employment Equity 
Act. The Group is currently dealing with an enquiry from the 
Department of Labour concerning certain sections of the 
Employment Equity Act. The Company is confident that the 
matter will be resolved. The Company’s health and safety 
was also an area of focus during the year under review.

The 2019 focus will be on the Consumer Protection 
Act, Protection of Personal Information Act, Broad-based 
Black Economic Empowerment Amendment Act and the 
continued compliance with all other applicable legislation.
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The Audit and Risk Committee (the Committee) is constituted 
as a statutory committee of the Company in respect of the 
statutory duties of section 94(7) of the Companies Act and 
is a committee of the Board in all other duties assigned to 
it by the Board.

Except with respect to the appointment, fees and terms 
of engagement of the independent external auditor, the 
decisions of the Committee do not reduce the individual 
and collective responsibilities of Board members in regard 
to their fiduciary duties and responsibilities.

Committee composition
The Committee is appointed annually by the shareholders 
and comprises three independent non-executive directors:

 — S Hari 
(appointed as Chairman effective 15 September 2017)

 — Prof DP van der Nest 
(retired as Chairman effective 15 September 2017)

 — BL Montgomery

All members of the Committee have general financial 
knowledge and relevant financial experience. Collectively, 
the Committee has an understanding of all matters that 
are integral to the Company’s integrated annual report.

The Committee members have considered and are of 
the opinion that they are adequately independent from 
the Company and Group, and management thereof, within 
the spirit of the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct.

The external auditors of the Group, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Inc., have unrestricted access to this Committee.

Committee charter
The Committee is governed by a written charter which 
is subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and the 
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, as well as any 
other applicable law or regulatory provision.

The primary purpose of the Committee is assisting the 
Board in:

 — Ensuring the continued independence of the 
independent auditor.

 — Overseeing the external audit process.
 — Overseeing integrated reporting.
 — Applying the combined assurance model to ensure 

a coordinated approach to all assurance activities.

 — Reviewing the expertise, resources and experience 
of the finance function.

 — Considering the appropriateness of the expertise 
and experience of the Financial Director.

 — Overseeing the internal audit function.
 — Overseeing of internal controls and financial reporting.
 — Risk assessment and oversight.

Meetings
Three Committee meetings were held during the year 
under review, and meeting attendance is referenced in 
the table below. The Chief Executive Officer, the Financial 
Director and other representatives from the finance 
department are invited to attend for all or part of any 
meeting as and when considered appropriate by the 
Committee. The external auditors are invited to attend 
meetings of the Committee on a regular basis. The 
Committee proposed all decisions of the meeting to 
the Board of Directors, which then authorised any 
decisions made.

The Committee’s key focus areas of 2018
The following actions were taken by the Committee during 
the year under review:

 — The financial statements were discussed at Committee 
meetings and recommended to the Board for approval.

 — The Committee in striving to conform to its regulatory 
framework, has appointed an external service provider 
to assist in the publishing of the integrated annual report 
and will ensure that the King IV requirements are met.

 — The Committee approved the unaudited interim financial 
results for the six months ended 31 August 2017.

 — The Committee approved the External Audit Report 
and Management letter for the 2017 financial year.

 — The Committee ensured compliance with IFRS and 
the JSE Listings Requirements.

 — The Committee assessed the Company’s five-year review.
 — The Committee ensured that the internal audit 

engagement was conducted.
 — The Committee evaluated the effectiveness and 

efficiency of the internal controls relating to the 
inventories, production and warehousing process.

 — The Committee assessed the existing policies and 
procedures.

 — The Committee identified opportunities and process 
improvements with regards to the safeguarding of the 
company’s IT assets and intellectual property.

Audit and Risk Committee meeting attendance

Members 12 May 2017 12 Oct 2017 26 Jan 2018 
Total 

meetings
Total 

attended
% Meetings 

attended

S Hari No Yes Yes 3 2 67

Prof DP van der Nest Yes Yes Yes 3 3 100

BL Montgomery Yes No Yes 3 2 67
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 — Areas of improvement have been highlighted in the 
internal audit review report. An action plan was 
submitted by management in order to address the 
areas found to be inadequate and/or ineffective.

 — The audit plan for the year ended 28 February 2018 
was addressed prior to year-end and approved. This 
was subject to the timeline discussed with management 
and external auditors. The IESBA Code was amended 
in terms of the professional accountant’s response 
to noncompliance with laws and regulations.

 — The Committee highlighted and discussed any 
instances of actual, suspected or alleged fraud risks 
reported by management that might be affecting the 
Company on a regular basis.

 — The development of a risk register as addressed in the 
internal audit findings. Two separate risk registers were 
compiled for strategic and operational risks and a risk 
workshop was held to initiate this.

The Committee’s future focus areas
Going forward, the Committee will be focused on 
the following:

 — Regular management accounts will be discussed 
at quarterly Audit and Risk Committee meetings.

 — The 2018 financial statements will be discussed 
at Committee meetings.

 — The External Audit Report and Management letter 
for the 2018 financial year will be reviewed.

 — Continued compliance with IFRS and the JSE Listings 
Requirements.

 — Approval of unaudited interim financial results for the 
six months ended 31 August 2018.

 — The risk register will be a standing item on the agenda 
to ensure that strategic and operational risks are being 
monitored and that effective controls are in place. 
Addressing the risks identified in the risk register 
and the mitigation strategies of minimising this 
to an acceptable risk appetite.

 — The Committee will continuously identify any ad 
hoc internal audit assignments to ensure internal 
controls are effective and assign these to an external 
service provider where appropriate.

Independent external auditors

Appointment and independence

The Committee considers and makes recommendations 
to the Board, to be put to shareholders for approval at the 
Annual General Meetings of the Company, in relation to 
the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the 
Company’s independent auditors. The Committee 
oversees the selection process for new auditors and if 
an auditor resigns the Committee investigates the issues 
leading to this and decides whether any action is required.

The Committee oversees the relationship with the 
independent auditors which includes:

 — determining their remuneration, whether fees for audit 
or non-audit services;

 — approving their terms of engagement, including any 
engagement letter issued at the start of each audit 
and the scope of the audit;

 — assessing their independence and objectivity annually, 
taking into account relevant professional and regulatory 
requirements and the relationship with the auditor as a 
whole, including the provision of any non-audit services;

 — satisfying itself that there are no relationships (such as 
family, employment, investment, financial or business) 
between the auditors and the Company (other than in 
the ordinary course of business);

 — agreeing with the Board a policy on the employment 
of former employees of the Company’s auditors, then 
monitoring the implementation of this policy;

 — monitoring the auditors’ compliance with relevant 
ethical and professional guidance on the rotation of 
audit partners, the level of fees paid by the Company 
compared to the overall fee income of the firm, office 
and partner and other related requirements;  

 — assessing annually their qualifications, expertise and 
resources and the effectiveness of the audit process 
which shall include a report from the independent 
auditors on their own internal quality procedures; and

 — considering the risk of the withdrawal of the Company’s 
auditors from the market.

The Committee ensures that the appointment of the auditor 
complies with the Companies Act, the Auditing Profession 
Act and other relevant legislation. The Committee has 
approved the reappointment of PwC as the external 
auditors of the Company.

The Committee meets regularly with the independent 
auditors, including once at the planning stage before the 
audit and once after the audit at the reporting stage. The 
Committee meets the independent auditors, without 
management being present, to discuss their remit and 
any issues arising from the audit.

It is the duty of the Committee to review and approve the 
annual audit plan and ensure that it is consistent with the 
scope of the audit engagement and it reviews the findings 
of the audit with the independent auditors. This shall 
include but not be limited to, the following:

 — a discussion of any major issues which arose during 
the audit;

 — a discussion and review of any problems or difficulties 
with management’s response to audit issues, and 
overseeing any disagreements between management 
and the auditors if they arise;

 — any accounting and audit judgements; and
 — levels of errors identified during the audit.
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The Committee has considered the independence 
requirements of the Independent Regulatory Board 
for Auditors and carried out procedures as considered 
necessary to satisfy itself that the auditors of Spanjaard 
Limited were independent as defined by the Companies 
Act of South Africa.

Non-audit services provided by the external auditors

The Committee must distinguish between audit and 
non-audit services, and has developed and implemented a 
policy on the supply of non-audit services by the independent 
auditors, taking into account any relevant ethical guidance 
on the matter.

It has pre-approved the contracts for non-audit services 
to be rendered by the independent auditors and has 
considered whether the auditors’ provision of non-audit 
services is compatible with the auditors’ independence.

The Committee confirms that the non-audit services 
rendered by the Company’s external auditors during 
the year under review were not material.

Financial statements 
and accounting practices
The Committee monitors the integrity of the financial 
statements of the Company, including its annual and 
half-yearly reports, preliminary results announcements 
and any other formal announcement relating to its 
financial performance, reviewing significant financial 
reporting issues and judgements which they contain.

The Committee is obliged to review the summary financial 
statements, significant financial returns to regulators and 
any financial information contained in certain other 
documents, such as announcements of a price sensitive 
nature, provided that such monitoring and review is not 
inconsistent with any requirement for prompt reporting 
under the JSE Listings Requirements.

The Committee assesses whether any major issues exist 
regarding accounting principles and financial statement 
presentations, including any significant changes in the 
Company’s selection or application of accounting principles; 
major issues as to the adequacy of the Company’s internal 
controls; and any special audit steps adopted in light of 
material control deficiencies. This was done in conjunction 
with reviewing the analyses prepared by management, the 
independent auditor setting forth financial reporting issues 
and judgments made in connection with the preparation 
of the financial statements. No such issues were identified.

Internal control and internal audit
The responsibility for the operation of these systems of 
internal controls lies with the Executive Directors who review 
them regularly to be satisfied that they are appropriate to 
provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement 
or loss. Because of this compensating control and the small 
size of the Group, it is the view of the Board that internal 
audit engagements will be conducted from time to time 
as the Committee deems necessary.

The control systems include established policies and 
procedures, limits of authority, delegation and detailed 
reporting mechanisms, with comparisons against 
expectations and budgets. These control systems are 
communicated throughout the organisation and are relied 
upon to provide reasonable and not absolute assurance.

Since 1 November 2004 the Company has implemented 
ISO 9001 as an additional system to complement its 
internal controls. The SABS renewed the certification 
ISO 9001:2008 on 2 November 2015 without major 
non-compliances. Our current certificate is valid until 
8 September 2018 after which a new certificate will 
be issued after the re-certification audit.

The Committee understands the scope of the internal 
and independent auditors’ review of internal control over 
financial reporting and obtains reports on significant 
findings and recommendations, together with 
management responses.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the 
Group’s systems of internal financial controls which have 
been established in order to provide reasonable assurance 
for the safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use 
or disposal and the maintenance of proper and reliable 
accounting records and financial information. These 
controls have been effective in the current financial 
year and remain effective on 31 May 2018.

The Committee confirms that the system of internal control 
applied by the Company over financial management is 
effective, efficient and transparent.

The Company used the services of an external third party 
(Quite Easily Done Internal Audit Solutions (Pty) Ltd) in the 
current financial year to identify any shortcomings in the 
procurement control environment, specifically pertaining 
to the manufacturing environment and no material 
shortcomings were identified. The Committee is of the 
opinion that management has mitigated all risks and 
shortcomings identified. The Committee has received 
the management report from its external auditors and 
no material control deficiencies were identified.
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Ethics oversight
The Committee continuously reviews the Company’s 
arrangements for its employees to raise concerns, 
in confidence, about possible wrongdoing in financial 
reporting or other matters and ensures that these 
arrangements allow proportionate and independent 
investigation of such matters and appropriate follow-up 
action. It must also review the Company’s procedures for 
detecting and preventing fraud and bribery and receiving 
reports on non-compliance.

A process is in place allowing the Committee to be informed 
of any reportable irregularities (as identified in the Auditing 
Profession Act, 2005) identified and reported by the 
independent auditors.

Refer to page 19 of the corporate governance report for 
more information on ethical leadership and governance.

Going concern
The Board has formally considered the going concern 
assumption for Spanjaard and its subsidiaries. The Board 
has no reason to believe that the Company and Group will 
not operate as a going concern in the foreseeable future.

Oversight of risk management
The Group’s focus of risk management is on identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring all known categories 
of risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to reduce it by 
ensuring that the appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviours are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Committee plays an oversight role in matters related 
to risk as well as financial and internal controls. Refer to 
page 7 of this integrated annual report for more 
information on risk management.

Combined assurance
It is a duty of this Committee to ensure that a combined 
assurance model is applied to provide a coordinated 
approach to all assurance activities, and that the combined 
assurance received is appropriate to address all the 
significant risks facing the Company, while actively 
monitoring the relationship between the external 
assurance providers and the Company.

Evaluation of Financial Director, 
finance function and the Committee
The Committee has satisfied itself, that the Financial 
Director, Ian Saunders, has the appropriate expertise and 
experience, and it has considered and satisfied itself of the 
appropriateness of the expertise, experience and adequacy 
of resources of the Company’s finance function.

The Committee has, likewise, reviewed its own performance, 
constitution and terms of reference and it is satisfied that 
it is operating at maximum effectiveness.

Integrated reporting
The Committee has reviewed the integrated annual report 
for the 2018 financial year to ensure that it is consistent with 
operational, financial and other information made available 
to the committee. The committee has satisfied itself of the 
integrity of the integrated annual report, ensuring that the 
report is prepared using appropriate reporting standards, 
which conform to the requirements of King IV and the JSE 
Listings Requirements. The Committee has recommended 
the 2018 integrated annual report to the Board for approval, 
based on the processes and assurances obtained.

In light of the above, the Committee confirms that it:

 — has reviewed and discussed the audited annual 
financial statements to be included in the integrated 
annual report;

 — has reviewed the external auditor’s report;
 — has reviewed and is satisfied with the level of expertise 

and experience of the Financial Director and the 
finance function;

 — has reviewed the Company’s compliance with legal 
and regulatory provisions;

 — has noted that all adjustments resulting from the audit 
were implemented and that no material unadjusted 
audit differences remained; and

 — concurs with and accepts the external auditor’s report 
on the annual financial statements.

Shaila Hari 
Chairperson of the Audit Committee 
25 May 2018
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Introduction from the Chairman 
of the Remuneration Committee
This is the first time we are presenting our remuneration 
report in terms of the requirements of King IV within 
our integrated annual report. Accordingly, the report 
comprises three sections namely: the background 
statement, the remuneration policy and concluding 
with the implementation report.

As required by King IV, shareholders will be asked to vote, 
by way of a non-binding advisory vote, on the remuneration 
policy as well as the Implementation report at the AGM, 
taking place on 17 August 2018. As required by the 
Companies Act, non-executive remuneration for the 
coming year will also be put to shareholders by way 
of a special resolution.

We require 75% affirmative vote for both the remuneration 
policy as well as the implementation report. Should we fail 
to achieve the required majority vote, we will outline the 
process and timing of our proposed engagement with 
shareholders at the same time that we announce the 
results of our AGM.

Shaila Hari 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
31 May 2018

Section 1: Background
The Remuneration Committee (the Committee) 
was reconstituted during the financial year and a new 
remuneration policy was developed and approved by 
the Board for implementation. After the passing on of the 
longstanding founder and CEO of the Group in September 
2017, the need to re-establish the governance around 
remuneration was identified and prioritised.

Shaila Hari was appointed Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and Prof DP van der Nest was also appointed 
to the Committee. Due to the size of the Board and the 
limited complexity of the Group, it was decided that 
two independent non-executive directors making up the 
Committee would be sufficient to discharge all duties 
required of the Committee.

The Committee has an independent role, overseeing and 
making recommendations to the Board for its consideration 
and final approval. The Committee does not assume 
the functions of management.

The role of the Committee is to assist the Board to 
ensure that:

 — The directors, executives and prescribed officers are 
remunerated fairly and responsibly with the long-term 
interests of the Company in mind;

 — The remuneration reports and disclosure of director 
and other executive remuneration is simple to read 
and understand, accurate and complete; and

 — An effective remuneration policy is in place, aligned 
with the Company’s strategy, and is applied consistently 
throughout the entity at all employee levels.

The Committee must perform all the functions necessary 
to fulfil its role as stated above and includes the following:

(i)   Overseeing the establishment and maintenance of a 
remuneration philosophy and policy that will promote 
the achievement of the strategic objectives and 
performance in line with Board objectives;

(ii)   Overseeing the preparation and recommendation to 
the Board of the remuneration report, to be included 
in the integrated annual report;

(iii)   Managing the stakeholder relations with investors and 
other stakeholders deemed appropriate on remuneration 
matters at the annual general meeting and throughout 
the year;

(iv)   Ensuring that the remuneration policy is put to a 
non-binding advisory vote at the annual general 
meeting of shareholders;

(v)   Reviewing the effectiveness of the implementation 
of the remuneration policy so as to establish whether 
the Board’s set objectives are being met;

(vi)   Ensuring that the structure and mix of fixed and 
variable pay, in cash, shares and other elements, 
meets the Board’s objectives;

(vii)  Overseeing the setting of remuneration quanta and 
terms and conditions for fixed and variable pay at 
all levels in the Company, but especially at senior 
executive, prescribed officer and Board level. This 
includes recommending the mandate to the Board 
for union negotiations;

(viii)  Satisfying itself as to the accuracy of recorded 
performance measures that govern the vesting 
of incentives;

(ix)   Ensuring that all benefits, including retirement 
benefits and other financial arrangements, are 
justified and appropriately valued;

(x)   Liaising with the Nominations Committee and Board 
Chair on the succession plans of senior management;

(xi)   Liaising with other Board Committees, including 
the Audit and Risk Committee, and the Social and 
Ethics Committee, on remuneration affairs in the 
broader context of risk, disclosure and social 
responsibility matters;
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(xii)  Ensuring an appropriate comparator Group is 
selected when comparing remuneration levels;

(xiii)  Ensuring that fixed and variable pay are compared 
against relevant market comparators on a regular 
basis to establish compliance with the remuneration 
policy and strategy;

(xiv)  Formulating and recommending to the Board the 
remuneration of non-executive directors for final 
approval by the shareholders;

(xv)  Ensuring that the Chair of the Committee, or in his/her 
absence an appointed deputy, attends the annual 
general meeting or similar forums to answer 
questions about remuneration; and

(xvi)  Ensuring that the minutes of subsidiary Company 
Remuneration Committees are reviewed; and ensuring 
that the Chair of the Committee reports to the Board 
after each meeting of the Remuneration Committee 
on its critical issues, including compliance with the 
terms of reference.

The attendance at the Committee meeting during the year 
was as follows:

Name Appointment date 21 February 2018

Shaila Hari (Chairperson) 15 September 2017 ✓
Prof DP van der Nest 15 September 2017 ✓

The CEO attended the meeting on 21 February 2018 
by invitation.

Factors influencing remuneration

The Company’s poor financial performance in the 2017 
financial year influenced the quantum of increases that 
was able to be afforded to the Group’s staff. Around one 
third of the Company’s staff are members of the Chemical, 
Energy, Paper, Printing, Wood and Allied Workers Union 
(CEPPWAWU). The Group has a good working relationship 
with the union and salary increases and other working 
conditions were agreed to in March 2017 without incident. 
For executives, remuneration was set by the CEO and 
ratified by the previous Remuneration Committee and 
thereafter the Board. Although the Group is not a member 
of any bargaining councils at present, it does monitor 
the substantive agreements signed with members of 
the chemical industry and ensures that remuneration levels 
and practices are kept in line with industry standards.

Key focus areas and decisions 
taken by the Remuneration Committee

A new remuneration policy was drafted and approved 
for implementation during the 2019 financial year. The 
key area of focus during 2019 will be to further develop 
the remuneration policy and develop the key performance 
indicators (KPIs) for which short-term incentives may 
become payable in the future. The Remuneration 
Committee will also investigate implementing job grading 
at all levels throughout the business and will consider 
long-term incentives (LTIs) in line with international 
best remuneration practices.

Use of remuneration consultants

No remuneration consultants have been used to date, 
although this will be considered going forward.

Section 2: Remuneration policy

Introduction

The below remuneration policy was adopted for the 2019 
financial year and replaces the informal remuneration 
policy that preceded it.

The remuneration policy addresses remuneration of Spanjaard 
employees throughout the business. The remuneration policy 
is intended to support the key strategic objectives of the 
business by ensuring that the Group remunerates fairly, 
responsibly and transparently. This should result in the Group 
achieving positive short-, medium- and long-term outcomes. 
The intended outcomes of the Group’s remuneration policy 
are that the Company can retain and attract the best people 
for the job, as well as to ensure that executive remuneration 
is fair and responsible in the context of overall employee 
remuneration in the Group. The remuneration policy should 
also promote an ethical and responsible corporate citizenship.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for setting 
and reviewing the remuneration policy and strategy which 
the Board must approve.

Remuneration philosophy

The Company aims to be able to recruit, reward, maintain 
and motivate staff members in all operations of the business. 
For this to be effective remuneration should be and be seen 
to be fair across the broad spectrum of employees. Although 
fairness can be seen to be subjective, it can be achieved by 
remuneration being free from discrimination, self-interest, 
prejudice and favouritism.

Remuneration should be as objective as possible with the 
principle of equal work for equal pay being applied as best 
as possible taking other factors such as length of service 
and performance into account.

The Company benchmarks all positions against other 
employees both within the Company and against similar 
companies in the sector.

The Company also acknowledges that all workers should 
receive a minimum level of remuneration that enables 
them to participate in the economy and therefore enforces 
a Company-wide minimum salary significantly larger than 
the proposed national minimum wage.

The Social and Ethics Committee of Spanjaard regularly 
interacts with the Remuneration Committee and ensures 
that executive remuneration in relation to all employees 
has been considered and executed in the Group.
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Remuneration structure

All employees including management and executive 
directors are employed on a total guaranteed package (TGP) 
basis. Guaranteed package levels are recommended by the 
Chief Executive Officer after taking all market benchmarks, 
individual experience, current performance, future career 
progression and resource availability into account.

On 1 March every year, an adjustment is made to all 
employees’ salaries considering guidance from supervisors 
and executive management. Negotiations with unions are also 
conducted before adjustments are made. Once discussed 
at the executive Committee, proposed salaries are presented 
to the Remuneration Committee for final approval.

TGP (applicable to all staff) is made up of a cash 
component, car allowance (if applicable), provident fund 
contribution as well as risk benefits. Staff members have 
various options of benefit categories to choose from, with 
retirement contribution percentages changing as well 
as the inclusion or exclusion of certain risk benefits.

Short-term incentives (STIs)

STIs are applicable in various formats. The STI Programme 
for top management (executives) is cash-based awards 
determined by Company and individual performance.

 — Before any incentive payments are considered, the 
financial performance of the Group is considered.

 — An overarching requirement is that a certain level of 
Group profit after tax is considered before any STI 
becomes applicable. This is set at R4 million for the 
2019 financial year.

 — 70% of the STI is based on the outperformance of the 
Company over the minimum level of profit after tax 
(Group component).

 — 30% of the STI is based on individual performance 
measures according to the KPIs set by the Remuneration 
Committee and the Board (Personal Component). These 
vary depending on each of the executive’s roles and 
functions and include sales increases, cost reductions, 
new product introductions and performance, whilst 
negative performance will negatively impact the 
individuals’ performance score.

 — The maximum STI available to the CEO and the Financial 
Director is 20% of their Total Annual Guaranteed Package 
and 15% for all other executive directors. This means that 
the 70% and 30% split is applied to the abovementioned 
percentages.

 — It is the Company’s philosophy that as the executives 
all work as a team in most aspects of the business, 
the overarching financial success of the Company 
is attributed to the team at large.

 — Individual performance measures can also include 
various financial measures applicable to the individual’s 
responsibilities; for example, export sales growth, 
reduction in wastage, improved quality metrics, 
new product introduction and performance and 
safety targets.

 — The financial targets are approved by the Remuneration 
Committee and are ratified by the Board on an annual 
basis and take into account specifically, HEPS growth, 
cash flow, and operating profit. The Committee has the 
power to make adjustments to the proposed STIs as 
deemed necessary, taking all circumstances into account.

All other staff may be awarded STIs based on exceptional 
performance outside the boundaries of their general duties 
(not “business-as-usual”) at management’s discretion.

The underlying need of the business to invest capital back 
into the business should be considered before any incentives 
are approved for payment.

Cash STIs, if applicable, will be paid in the month following 
the publication of the Group’s audited financial statements.

All specifics regarding the implementation of the policy 
including specific KPIs and financial targets are agreed 
with the executives annually and form part of their 
employment contracts.

The Committee has taken care in setting the targets and will 
continue to make sure that sufficient controls are in place to 
prevent behaviour contrary to the Group’s risk management 
approach and does not drive unethical or unnecessarily 
risky behaviour in order to achieve incentive targets.

If at any stage, financial performance indicators are 
restated in future years for whatever reason, the Company 
will recover any incentives already paid that would not have 
been applicable should the correct indicators have been 
published at the time.

Long-term incentives (LTIs)

The Company does not currently have any LTI programme 
in place due to the following reasons:

 — The Company’s shares are fairly illiquid and do not 
trade regularly on the JSE.

 — The share price does not reflect the net asset value 
of the Company and it does not move in line with the 
performance of the Company.

 — Due to this volatility none of the traditional LTI structures, 
such as share plans and appreciation rights schemes, 
make sense for the Company to implement.

 — The Remuneration Committee will continue to investigate 
if and how best to implement LTIs over the coming financial 
year but believes that STIs are the most appropriate way 
to reward performance at this stage.
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Non-executive directors

Non-executive directors are paid a fixed monthly retainer 
for their services. The non-executive remuneration is 
benchmarked using surveys provided by the Institute 
of Directors of South Africa or other relevant surveys 
available at the time. Due to the small size and nature of 
the Spanjaard Board, this is considered appropriate for 
the Company. Non-executive directors do not participate 
in STI or LTI plans.

The Board recommends the fees payable to the Chairman 
and non-executive directors for approval by the shareholders.

The following tables disclose the total remuneration received 
and receivable by non-executive directors.

Non-executive director remuneration

R’000 2018 2017 %

Prof. DP van der Nest

Basic fees 184 179

Total remuneration 184 179 3

S Hari

Basic fees 184 179

Total remuneration 184 179 3

BL Montgomery

Basic fees 184 179

Total remuneration 184 179 3

Section 3: Implementation report
As discussed above the previous remuneration policy was 
informal and remuneration was set annually by the CEO and 
ratified by the Remuneration Committee and the Board.

The following tables disclose the total remuneration 
received and receivable by executive directors.

Executive director remuneration

R’000 2018 2017 %

RJW Spanjaard 1

Basic salary  1 497  2 996

Retirement funding — —

Guaranteed package 1 497  2 996 (50)

Short-term incentives — 260

Total remuneration 1 497 3 256 (54)

R’000 2018 2017 %

K Welgemoed 2

Basic salary 1 324 1 055

Retirement funding 191 148

Guaranteed package 1 515 1 203 26

Short-term incentives — 300

Total remuneration 1 515 1 503 1

I Saunders 3

Basic salary 915 618

Retirement funding 96 64

Guaranteed package 1 011 682 48

Short-term incentives — —

Total remuneration 1 011 682 48

TN Stewart 4

Basic salary 331 —

Retirement funding 10 —

Guaranteed package 341 —

Short-term incentives — —

Total remuneration 341 —

GF Cort

Basic salary 1 272 1 200

Retirement funding 143 124

Guaranteed package 1 415 1 324 7

Short-term incentives 44 220

Total remuneration 1 459 1 544 (6)

CKT Palmer

Basic salary 876 861

Retirement funding 135 98

Guaranteed package 1 011 959 5

Short-term incentives — 220

Total remuneration 1 011 1 179 (14)

1 Deceased 25 September 2017.
2 Appointed as CEO on 3 November 2017.
3 Appointed financial director on 27 May 2016.
4 Appointed as marketing director on 12 October 2017.
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Social and Ethics Committee
The Social and Ethics Committee (the Committee) was 
formed in 2012 to assist the Board with the oversight of 
social and ethics matters around sustainability, corporate 
governance, legislation and prevailing codes of best 
practice relating to the Company.

The Committee promotes responsibility, accountability, 
fairness and transparency that promotes and sustains:

 — social and economic development;
 — good corporate citizenship;
 — environmental responsibility;
 — fair labour practices; and
 — good consumer relations.

As at year-end the Committee comprised:

 — S Hari (Independent Non-executive Chairperson)
 — TN Stewart
 — CKT Palmer

Biographies of the abovementioned directors can be 
found on page 11 of this report.

Meeting attendance

The Committee meets quarterly and has addressed 
all relevant items in line with its terms of reference and 
reported accordingly to the Board and its shareholders 
at the Company’s annual general meeting.

As per its mandate and terms of reference, the Committee 
has conducted an annual self-assessment and considers 
itself effective. The Board has re-elected the Committee 
members to continue with the principles of good 
governance and a sound ethical foundation.

The Committee evaluates and effectively manages its 
operational, health and safety matters, and analyses 
any shortcomings previously identified. The Company 
appointed an Employment Equity Manager to lead the 
Employment Equity and Skills Committee comprising 
employees who were nominated as members and has 
an employment equity plan.

The Committee reports to the Board on global environment 
concerns that could affect the business of the Company 
on the international platform. In compliance with European 
standards and in conjunction with the European Union 
Regulator, The European Chemicals Agency, REACH 
requirements have been successfully implemented on 
all Spanjaard products imported into the European Union 
during the year under review. In order to ensure that the 
Company successfully competes in the international 
market, it is currently focused on making all of its 
export labels GHS compliant.

In meeting the challenges of an ever-changing world, 
mitigating environmental risks and preserving natural 
resources, Spanjaard monitors its carbon usage and the 
effects it has on the environment. The Committee will 
continue to record its carbon usage and implement the 
regulatory tax requirement when proposed by the South 
African Revenue Services.

Radical economic transformation remains a crucial challenge 
for the Company and in striving to continuously promote 
an environment of socio-economic equity, the Company 
endeavours to align itself with this regulatory framework 
around broad-based black economic empowerment 
(B-BBEE). The Committee is addressing all elements of 
the scorecard to guide the organisation towards improving 
compliance and enhancing its annual contributor rating.

The Committee’s responsibilities remain clear and in support 
of the Company’s mandate on good corporate governance. 
It ensures that an ethical foundation exists upon which the 
Company operates and transacts with integrity for the 
benefit of its stakeholders.

Shaila Hari 
Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee 
31 May 2018

Social and Ethics Committee meeting attendance

Members 22 May 2017 12 Oct 2017 8 Dec 2017 26 Jan 2018 
Total 

meetings
Total 

attended
% Meetings 

attended

S Hari Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 4 100

K Welgemoed * Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 4 100

TN Stewart ** — — — Yes 1 1 100

CKT Palmer Yes Yes No Yes 4 3 75

* Resigned 26 January 2018. ** Appointed 26 January 2018.
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Sustainability report
Sustainability reporting is an ongoing process for setting 
organisational strategy, implementing action plans and 
assessing outcomes. It lends support to continuous 
improvement in performance over time.

The Company’s approach to sustainability recognises 
the following:

 — realising a positive return on shareholders’ investment;
 — the importance of customers, suppliers, service 

providers and other key stakeholders; and
 — maintaining staff relationships.

Labour relations

The Company’s employees are members of the Chemical, 
Energy, Paper, Printing, Wood and Allied Workers Union 
(CEPPWAWU) and the Company has maintained a good 
working relation with the union.

Apart from continuously working towards the better working 
conditions in the workplace, we are also determined to 
address the skills development and training efforts that will 
ultimately benefit the quality of lives of all our employees.

We are very proud of the fact that many of our employees 
have displayed their loyalty to the Company by serving with 
us for more than a decade and we generally have a very 
low staff turnover rate.

B-BBEE

In recognising the risk of a noncompliant B-BBEE 
scorecard, the Company is focusing on achieving 
a compliant status during the 2019 financial year by 
addressing the shortcomings found. Attention will be 
given to skills development and training and we are also 
partnering with local small and micro-enterprises. This 
process is being monitored under the auspices of the 
Social and Ethics Committee.

Employment Equity

In order to be compliant with the Employment Equity Act, 
various measures have been implemented in the workplace 
to ensure that the objectives of the Act are attained. This 
includes appointing an Employment Equity Manager and 
structuring an approved Company Employment Equity Plan.

We have continued to focused on increasing awareness of 
equitable and fair treatment among our workforce in order 
to eliminate any possible unfair discrimination. We have 
implemented affirmative action measures to redress the 
disadvantages in employment experienced by designated 
groups and women and people with disabilities.

We have also performed annual staff evaluations in order 
to address the employment equity challenges. Staff skills 
development and training initiatives are being put in place 
to provide more opportunities for staff to grow within the 
organisation which enhances staff loyalty.

Health, safety and environment

Continued emphasis is being placed on providing a safe 
operating environment for our employees and conserving 
our environment and natural resources. During the year 
under review, a safety, health, environment and quality 
(SHEQ) gap analysis was conducted by an independent 
third party. The gap analysis has identified several 
shortcomings, which we will endeavour to correct 
in the short term.

Employee health and benefits

Our employees play an integral part in the success and 
future growth of the Company. The Group continues to 
provide employee benefits to its workforce including:

 — provident fund;
 — medical aid;
 — disability, death and funeral cover; and
 — skills development and training.

Employee safety

The safety of our employees is a core priority. Through 
our established Occupational Health and Safety Committee 
which meets quarterly to assess any risk areas and required 
actions to mitigate them, we promote and maintain a safe 
operating environment. It is the goal of the committee to 
provide training in respect of fire and first aid, and to 
develop systems and standards throughout our operations. 
The committee devises the necessary emergency and 
recovery plans, and ensures that precautions are taken to 
prevent injuries and incidents. An action plan, with adequate 
controls, has been developed to address the shortcomings 
identified in the SHEQ gap analysis which was conducted.

Environmental management

We acknowledge the effects that the Group’s operational 
and other activities have on the environment. We recognise 
that we have a responsibility to minimise the Group’s 
environmental impact and the need to adapt to the risks 
associated with climate change. The Group is committed 
to developing methods to reduce these effects 
systematically over time.
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Most of the total carbon emissions we generate relate to the 
use of our current propellant in our manufacturing operations. 
We continually aim to find alternative, less harmful propellants 
to reduce the impact. We are committed to monitoring our 
carbon usage and assessing not only its impact on the 
environment but also the punitive measures that are being 
considered by the proposed imposition of stringent tax rules.

We continue with our efforts to reduce waste generated 
in production through chemical recycling and good waste 
disposal practices. Waste initiatives involve the recycling 
of materials such as cardboard, paper, plastic and aerosol 
cans as well as incorporating a grease sump trap to 
prevent pollution of water systems.

As we do not envisage a significant movement (over 
the short to medium term) to products differentiated on 
ethical or environmental criteria within our sector, our Group 
business strategy has deliberately focused on prioritising 
governance, optimisation and efficiency initiatives, employee 
awareness and supply chain issues, over product-related 
or “green branding” initiatives, which has currently 
received a lesser emphasis.

We continue to implement more systematic approaches 
for measuring key environmental performance data, with a 
long-term view to setting quantitative performance targets.

Skills development

We remain committed to skills development, concentrating 
on staff training and believe that a diversified and skilled 
workforce provides the quality and services that create a 
competitive advantage. We have accordingly submitted our 
workplace skills plan to the Chemical Industries Education 
and Training Authority to ensure the continuous growth 
of the Group’s skills base.

Socio-economic development and sponsorships

We, as a group, continue to be a responsible corporate 
citizen and provide bursaries to historically disadvantaged 
high-school students on an annual basis. We continue to 
assess various opportunities to contribute positively to the 
socio-economic development of the country, especially in 
the areas in which the Group operates.

Since inception, we at Spanjaard have partnered 
with motorsport professionals through various product 
sponsorships. These partnerships include teams and 
individuals competing at the highest level in the global 
arena such as the Dakar Rally and other international cross 
country racing events. Our current sponsorships include:

 — Toyota Motorsport/Toyota Gazoo Racing South Africa
 — 4x4 Mega World Cross Country Racing
 — Stiaan Kriel Racing (VW Challenge)
 — Willie Hepburn — South African racing legend

This long affiliation with motorsport reflects our love of 
adventure and determination to take on any challenge, 
which underpins the very spirit of our Company’s brand.Sp
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The Directors are required by the Companies Act of 
South Africa, 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting 
records and are responsible for the content and integrity 
of the annual financial statements and related financial 
information included in this report. It is their responsibility 
to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly 
present the state of affairs of the Group as at the end 
of the financial year and the results of its operations and 
cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The 
external auditors are engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with IFRS and the South African Institute 
of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting 
Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee 
(APC) and in the manner required by the South African 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008 and are based upon appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the Company and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong control environment. 
To enable the Directors to meet these responsibilities, the 
Directors set standards for internal control aimed at reducing 
the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The 
standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities 
within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure 
an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the Company and all employees are required 
to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the 
Company’s business is conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus 
of risk management in the Company is on identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk 
across the Company. While operating risk cannot be fully 
eliminated, the Company endeavours to minimise it by 
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that 
the financial records may be relied on for the preparation 
of the annual financial statements. However, any system 
of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, 
and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement 
or loss. The Directors have reviewed the Company’s cash 
flow forecast for the year to 28 February 2019 and, in light 
of this review and the current financial position, they 
are satisfied that the Company has access to adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently 
reviewing and reporting on the Company’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial statements have been 
audited by the Company’s external auditors and their 
report is presented on page 37.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 44 to 82, 
which have been prepared on the going concern basis, 
were approved by the Directors on 25 May 2018 and were 
signed on its behalf by:

K Welgemoed 
Chief Executive Officer

I Saunders 
Financial Director
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SPANJAARD 
HAS ENTERED 
A NEW ERA, 
RE-ESTABLISHING 
THE BASE FROM 
WHICH TO DRIVE 
FUTURE GROWTH
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Report on the audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated and separate financial position of Spanjaard 
Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together the 
Group) as at 28 February 2018, and its consolidated and 
separate financial performance and its consolidated and 
separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

What we have audited

Spanjaard Limited’s consolidated and separate financial 
statements set out on pages 44 to 82 comprise:

 — the consolidated and separate statements of financial 
position as at 28 February 2018;

 — the consolidated and separate statements of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year 
then ended;

 — the consolidated and separate statements of changes 
in equity for the year then ended;

 — the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows 
for the year then ended; and

 — the notes to the financial statements, which include a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code 
of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA 
Code) and other independence requirements applicable 
to performing audits of financial statements in South 
Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance 
with other ethical requirements applicable to performing 
audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B).

Our audit approach

Overview

MATERIALITY

GROUP
SCOPING

KEY AUDIT
MATTERS

Overall group materiality

 – Overall group materiality: R913 444, which 
represents 0,8 % of total revenue.

Group audit scope

 – A full scope audit was performed over the most 
significant components in South Africa.

 – Specified audit procedures were performed on 
certain account balances to obtain sufficient and 
appropriate audit evidence to express an opinion 
on the Group Financial Statements as a whole.

Key audit matters

 – Non-current assets impairment test of the 
Special Lubricants and allied chemicals 
Cash Generating Unit.

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality 
and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
consolidated and separate financial statements. In 
particular, we considered where the directors made 
subjective judgements; for example, in respect of 
significant accounting estimates that involved making 
assumptions and considering future events that are 
inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also 
addressed the risk of management override of internal 
controls, including among other matters, consideration 
of whether there was evidence of bias that represented 
a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application 
of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to 
fraud or error. They are considered material if individually 
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined 
certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including 
the overall group materiality for the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, 
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to 
determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing 
and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate 
the effect of misstatements, both individually and in 
aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.
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Overall group materiality R913 444

How we determined it 0,8% of total revenue

Rationale for 
the materiality 
benchmark applied

We chose revenue as the benchmark because, 
in our view, it is the benchmark against which 
the performance of the Group is most commonly 
measured by users, due to fluctuations of profit 
before tax for the past three years. We chose 
0,8%, which is lower than the expected 1%, due 
to Spanjaard Limited being listed and the financial 
statements are widely distributed.

How we tailored our group audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform 
sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking 
into account the structure of the Group, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in which the 
Group operates.

The Group has two principal reportable operating segments 
that align with its organisational design, namely special 
lubricants and allied chemical and anti-friction powders.

The Group’s financial statements are a consolidation of five 
reporting components, comprising the Group’s principal 
operating segments. Of these reporting components, 
we selected three for full scope audit testing due to their 
financial significance. Specific audit procedures on certain 
balances and transactions were performed on the two 
remaining reporting components. All audit work was 
performed by us as Group auditors and did not require 
involvement of component auditors.

This together with additional procedures performed at 
the Group level, including testing of consolidation journal 
entries and intercompany eliminations, gave us the 
evidence we needed for our opinion on the Group 
financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Non-current assets impairment test of the Special Lubricants and allied chemicals Cash Generating Unit

Refer to accounting policies, page 55 (Impairment of assets).

Management identified certain impairment indicators in the Special 
Lubricants and allied chemicals Cash Generating Unit. Management 
conducted an impairment test to determine the recoverable amount 
of the underlying non-current assets of the Special Lubricants and 
allied chemicals Cash Generating Unit, and concluded that there are 
no impairments. The recoverable amounts are based on “value in use” 
calculations and exceed the carry amounts in the respective CGU.

In testing for impairment, management applies judgement 
and assumptions in determining the “value in use”. For example, 
forecasting future volumes when determining future cash flows 
based on normalised operations, which is significantly influenced 
by factors that are difficult to predict. The “value in use” assessment 
is highly sensitive to changes in future cash flows, growth rates 
and discount rates applied. We considered the impairment test to 
be a matter of most significance to the current year audit due to the 
significant judgement and assumptions applied by management in 
determining the “value in use” and the magnitude of the assets 
tested for impairment.

This key audit matter relates to the consolidated and separate 
financial statements.

An understanding was obtained over the process and procedures applied by management 
during their testing of non-current assets for impairment. 

Management’s future cash flow forecasts were evaluated. This included assessing 
management’s assumptions, such as sales volumes and gross product margins.

Management’s future cash flow forecasts were based on budgets and forecasts approved by 
the board of directors. The Group’s 2018 actual results were compared to the forecasts for 
that year, to identify any situations where actual results achieved were significantly different 
from forecasted budgeted results. We discussed with management the rationale for the 
differences identified and they have provided us with corroborating evidence, indicating 
that the differences were reasonable and are unlikely to recur in future periods. 

As a reasonability test, we utilised our own valuation expertise to calculate the discount 
rate applied, taking independently obtained market data into account. The discount rate 
applied by management was noted to be within a reasonable range.

We tested the mathematical accuracy of management’s impairment test and utilised 
our valuation expertise to assess whether generally accepted valuation methodology was 
applied. No exceptions were noted in testing the mathematical accuracy and we concluded 
that the methodology applied was reasonable.

In addition, we performed our own independent sensitivity calculations on the impairment 
test, with respect to the key assumptions (for example the discount rate and growth rates). 
We discussed these with management and considered the likelihood of such changes 
occurring, and accepted management’s conclusion that the key assumptions applied 
in the models were within a reasonable range.
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Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information included 
in the Integrated Annual Report 2018 that includes the 
Directors’ Report, the Audit and Risk Committee’s Report 
and the Statement of compliance by Company Secretary 
as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. Other 
information does not include the consolidated and separate 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial 
statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information identified above and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the 
consolidated and separate financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated and separate financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, the directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group and the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Group and/or the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

 — Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

 — Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control.

 — Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

 — Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group and/or 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
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 — Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated 
and separate financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

 — Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that 
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, 
we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 
Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of 
Spanjaard Limited for three years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
Director: JL Roos 
Registered Auditor

Johannesburg 
31 May 2018
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual 
Directors’ Report which forms part of the audited annual 
financial statements of the Company and of the Group for 
the year ended 28 February 2018.

Nature of business
The Company is a manufacturer and distributor of special 
lubricants and allied chemical products for industrial and 
consumer/automotive applications. Subsidiaries comprise 
one company producing anti-friction powders, one property 
company which supports the business operations, one 
foreign company trading in the Netherlands and one 
dormant company in the United Kingdom.

Export business continues to form a significant part 
of turnover.

General review and financial results
The financial statements on pages 44 to 82, together 
with the notes thereto, set out fully the financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows of the Group for the 
financial year ended 28 February 2018 and require no 
further explanation.

Subsequent events
No reportable matter which is material to the financial 
affairs of the Company or the Group, has occurred between 
28 February 2018 and the date of approval of the annual 
financial statements.

Share capital
There were no changes in the authorised or issued share 
capital of the Group during the year under review (2017: Nil).

Dividends
The directors have not declared a dividend in the current 
financial year (2017: RNil).

Property, plant and equipment
During the year the Group purchased property, plant and 
equipment amounting to R958 650 (2017: R600 123) and 
the Company purchased plant and equipment amounting 
to R918 590 (2017: R600 123), consisting mainly of plant 
and machinery. Future capital expenditure will be funded 
from internal resources and, if appropriate, borrowings.

During the year under review the Group showed an 
increase through valuation of RNil (2017: R1 592 000) 
on its freehold land and buildings.

Holding company and 
ultimate holding company
The Company’s holding company and ultimate holding 
company is Spanjaard Group Limited, which held 71,8% 
(2017: 71,8%) of the issued share capital at year-end.

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared using 
appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable 
judgments and estimates. The directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue as a going concern. The directors have 
performed the required liquidity and solvency tests 
required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

Subsidiary companies
See the table on page 65 for information relating to the 
Group’s financial interest in its subsidiaries.

Directorate
The Board of Directors consists of three independent 
non-executive directors and five executive directors. 
Refer to pages 10 and 11 for the individual biographies 
of all directors.

The interests of senior management totalled 33 218 shares 
(2017: 6 554 227). There were no contracts during or at 
the end of the financial year in which the directors of the 
Company were interested. No change in the directors’ 
interests have taken place between 28 February 2018 
and the date of this report.

Special resolutions
No special resolutions were passed during or relating to 
the financial year, other than those that were passed at 
the annual general meeting on 15 September 2017.

Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ remuneration for the year under review in 
aggregate was as per the table on page 43.

In terms of the memorandum of incorporation the fees for 
non-executive directors’ services are determined by the 
Company in an annual general meeting.

Terms of executive directors’ contracts are in line with all 
other employees.

Sp
an

ja
ar

d 
Lt

d 
In

te
gr

at
ed

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
0

18

41

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the year ended 28 February 2018



Subsidiary companies
Shares at cost

Country of incorporation
%

interest held
2018

R’000
2017

R’000

Bronzmet Proprietary Limited 1 3 South Africa 100 — — 2

Coppermet Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 — 2 — 2

Slip Products (S.A.) Proprietary Limited 3 South Africa 100 — — 2

Spanjaard EU BV The Netherlands 100 — 2 — 2

Spanjaard UK Limited United Kingdom 100 228 228

Torpedo Investments Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 — 2 — 2

228 228

1 Indirectly held via Coppermet Proprietary Limited.
2 Shareholding less than R1 000 is not reflected.
3 De-registered 2 November 2017.

The results of the subsidiaries so far as concerns the members of the Group are as follows:

2018 2017

Net (loss)/profit: (264 475) 2 113 254

Interests of Directors

Director
Direct

beneficial
Indirect

beneficial Total %

2018

Estate of the late RJW Spanjaard  495 832  5 842 566  6 338 398 77,84

K Welgemoed  8 696 —  8 696 0,11

GF Cort  24 422 —  24 422 0,30

TN Stewart  100 —  100 0,00

BL Montgomery **  100 000 —  100 000 1,23

 629 050  5 842 566  6 471 616 79,48

2017

RJW Spanjaard *  680 943  5 843 966  6 524 909 80,13

K Welgemoed  4 896 —  4 896 0,06

GF Cort  24 422 —  24 422 0,30

BL Montgomery **  170 000 —  170 000 2,09

 880 261  5 843 966  6 724 227 82,58

* Deceased 25 September 2017. ** Non-executive.
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Company Secretary
Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited was 
appointed on 20 September 2016. The directors are satisfied 
with the competence, qualifications and experience of the 
Company Secretary. Their business and postal addresses are:

Business address:

Fourth Floor, Aloe Grove
Houghton Estate Office Park
2 Osborn Road
Houghton
2198

Postal address:

PO Box 225
Highlands North
2037

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc, were reappointed as auditors 
for the 2018 financial year.

Directors’ remuneration
Short-term benefits

Post-
employment

benefits:
RetirementR’000 Fees Basic Allowances Medical Risk Bonus Other

Total
2018

Total
2017

Executive Directors

RJW Spanjaard * —  1 460 —  32 — —  5 —  1 497  3 256 

K Welgemoed —  1 144  180 —  11 — —  180  1 515  1 503 

I Saunders —  915 — —  6 — —  90  1 011  682 

TN Stewart ** —  331 — —  2 — —  8  341 —

GF Cort —  1 195 —  77  17  44 —  126  1 459  1 544 

CKT Palmer —  876 — —  17 — —  118  1 011  1 179 

—  5 921  180  109  53  44  5  522  6 834  8 164 

Non-executive Directors

Prof. DP van der Nest  184 — — — — — —  184  179 

BL Montgomery  184 — — — — — —  184  179 

S Hari  184 — — — — — —  184  179 

 552 — — — —  — —  552  537 

* Deceased 25 September 2017. ** Appointed 12 October 2017.
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Group Company

R’000 Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 3  28 994  31 098  10 070  11 515 

Intangibles 4  1 141  1 622  1 136  1 616 

Goodwill 5  437  437 — —

Investment in subsidiaries 6 — —  228  228 

 30 572  33 157  11 434  13 359 

Current assets

Inventories 7  16 768  17 051  16 326  15 899 

Trade receivables and other receivables 8  16 255  16 419  16 048  15 382 

Cash and cash equivalents 9  635  1 823  124  1 134 

Amount due by ultimate holding company 10 —  95 —  95 

Current income tax receivable 27 —  207 —  207 

Amount due by subsidiaries and related companies 11 — —  9 035  9 747 

 33 658  35 595  41 533  42 464 

Non-current assets held for sale 12  126 — — —

Total assets  64 356  68 752  52 967  55 823 

Equity and liabilities

Capital and reserves attributable to the Company’s equity holders

Ordinary shares 13  407  407  407  407 

Share premium 13  6 464  6 464  6 464  6 464 

Reserves  34 065  38 614  20 353  23 903 

Foreign currency translation reserve 14  2  17 — —

Revaluation reserve 15  7 621  8 536  2 118  2 969 

Share based payment compensation reserve 16  1 906  1 906  1 906  1 906 

Retained earnings  24 536  28 155  16 329  19 028 

Total shareholders’ equity  40 936  45 485  27 224  30 774 

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 17  4 164  5 092  476  1 851 

Borrowings 18  389  386  389  345 

 4 553  5 478  865  2 196 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19  11 479  11 831  10 298  9 917 

Bank overdraft 9  7 035  4 820  5 180  3 553 

Borrowings 18  345  1 130  302  512 

Shareholders for dividends 28  8  8  8  8 

Loans from group companies 11 — —  9 090  8 863 

 18 867  17 789  24 878  22 853 

Total liabilities  23 420  23 267  25 743  25 049 

Total equity and liabilities  64 356  68 752  52 967  55 823 
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Group Company

R’000 Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Revenue  117 678  120 055  114 003  114 195 

Cost of sales (76 547) (73 690) (74 771) (70 701)

Gross profit  41 131  46 365  39 232  43 494 

Other income  329  202  1 170  4 032 

Distribution costs (12 295) (11 115) (12 806) (10 855)

Administrative expenses (33 567) (34 538) (31 524) (33 720)

Finance costs 21 (1 029) (871) (996) (626)

(Loss)/profit before tax 22 (5 431)  43 (4 924)  2 325 

Taxation 24  897  370  1 374  108 

(Loss)/profit for the year (4 534)  413 (3 550)  2 433 

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Movement in foreign currency translation reserve 14 (15) (114) — —

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Revaluation on property, plant and equipment 3,15 —  1 592 — —

Tax on revaluation on property, plant and equipment 15 — (446) — —

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (4 549)  1 445 (3 550)  2 433 

Group

Cents Notes 2018 2017

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share 25 (55,7) 5,1
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R’000
Share

capital
Share

premium

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Share-based
payment

compensation
reserve

Retained
earnings Total

Group

Balance at 1 March 2016  407  6 464  131  9 147  1 906  25 985  44 040 

Total comprehensive income for the year — — (114)  1 146 —  413  1 445 

— profit — — — — —  413  413 

— foreign currency translation reserve — — (114) — — — (114)

— revaluation — — —  1 146 — —  1 146 

Transfer in reserves (Note 15) — — — (1 757) —  1 757 —

Balance at 28 February 2017  407  6 464  17  8 536  1 906  28 155  45 485 

Total comprehensive loss for the year — — (15) — — (4 534) (4 549)

— loss — — — — — (4 534) (4 534)

— foreign currency translation reserve — — (15) — — — (15)

Transfer in reserves (Note 15) — — — (915) —  915 —

Balance at 28 February 2018  407  6 464  2  7 621  1 906  24 536  40 936 

Notes  13  13  14  15  16 

Company

Balance at 1 March 2016  407  6 464 —  3 712  1 906  15 852  28 341 

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — —  2 433  2 433 

— profit — — — — —  2 433  2 433 

Transfer in reserves (Note 15) — — — (743) —  743 —

Balance at 28 February 2017  407  6 464 —  2 969  1 906  19 028  30 774 

Total comprehensive loss for the year — — — — — (3 550) (3 550)

— loss — — — — — (3 550) (3 550)

Transfer in reserves (Note 15) — — — (851) —  851 —

Balance at 28 February 2018  407  6 464 —  2 118  1 906  16 329  27 224 

Notes  13  13  14  15  16 

Cents 2018 2017

Dividend per ordinary share:

Dividend relating to interim declaration 0 0

Final dividend — payable in next financial year 0 0
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Group Company

R’000 Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers  117 839  124 637  113 306  117 767 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (119 158) (117 464) (114 821) (108 199)

Cash (used in)/generated from operations 26 (1 319)  7 173 (1 515)  9 568 

Interest paid 21 (1 029) (871) (996) (626)

Tax received 27  207  140  207  164 

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (2 141)  6 442 (2 304)  9 106 

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 3 (959) (600) (919) (600)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 3  639 —  639 —

Purchases of intangible assets 4 (209) (230) (209) (230)

Amount due by holding company — loans granted — (30) — (30)

Amount due by holding company — receipts from —  71 —  71 

Net cash generated used in investing activities (529) (789) (489) (789)

Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings repaid 29 (1 474) (2 611) (858) (975)

Proceeds from borrowings 29  692  267  692  267 

Loans from subsidiaries and related companies — loans received — —  508  1 042 

Loans from subsidiaries and related companies — repayments made — — (281) (4 901)

Loans from holding company — loans received  244  230  244  175 

Loans from holding company — repayments made (149) (2 319) (149) (2 244)

Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders 28 — (1 294) — (1 294)

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (687) (5 727)  156 (7 930)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (3 357) (74) (2 637)  387 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (2 997) (2 909) (2 419) (2 806)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (46) (14) — —

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 (6 400) (2 997) (5 056) (2 419)
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1. Principal accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Judgements are discussed in point T of the accounting policies.

A. Basis of preparation
The annual financial statements of the Group and Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee (APC), the listing 
requirements of the JSE Limited and the Companies Act 71 of South Africa, 2008. The annual financial statements have been prepared using a combination 
of fair value and the historical costs basis of accounting as described in the accounting policies below.

The accounting policies are consistent with those of the prior year.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and are presented in South African Rands rounded to the nearest thousand 
unless specifically stated otherwise.

B. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated annual financial statements comprise the statements of financial position, the statements of profit or loss and comprehensive income, 
the statements of changes in equity and the statements of cash flows of the company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group 
has control. Control is achieved when the company:

 — Exercises power over the investee, which is described as having existing rights that give the current ability to direct the activities of the investee that 
significantly affect the investee’s returns (such activities are referred to as the ‘relevant activities’);

 — has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;

 — has the ability to exert power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

The Group will reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements 
of control listed above. The subsidiaries are 100% owned and therefore there are no minority interests. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

C. Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries are recognised at cost. These investments are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses in the 
separate annual financial statements of the Company.

D. Foreign currency translation

(1) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in South African Rands, which is the Company’s functional 
and presentation currency.

(2) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit and loss.
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1. Principal accounting policies continued

(3) Group Companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the reporting date;

(ii)  income and expenses for each profit and loss item are translated at average exchange rates for the year (unless the average is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effects of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the 
dates of the transactions);

(iii) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are taken to equity through other comprehensive 
income. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised as a reclassification adjustment to profit and loss as part of the gain or loss 
on sale.

E. Borrowing costs
All interest costs are recognised using the effective interest rate method as there are no qualifying assets within the Group in the current or prior year. 
These costs are recognised in profit or loss.

F. Property, plant and equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

 — it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

 — the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost including amounts incurred initially to acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and to 
bring the item to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Amounts incurred subsequent 
to initial recognition to add to or replace part of an asset or as part of major maintenance are also recognised at cost.

Land and buildings comprise mainly factories and offices and are shown at revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Land and 
buildings are revalued every two years by an external, independent valuer or more frequently if carrying amount do not equal fair value. Plant and machinery is 
revalued when the carrying amount does not equal fair value. All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any impairment.

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation of land and buildings and plant and equipment is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost or revalued amount of each asset to their residual values over their estimated useful lives 
as follows:

Buildings 10 – 50 years

Plant and machinery 3 – 25 years

Motor vehicles 4 – 5 years

Office furniture and equipment 3 – 10 years

Land is not depreciated

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at the earlier of derecognition or when classified as held-for-sale. Depreciation is recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Depreciation relating to the revalued portion of revalued assets are transferred from the 
revaluation reserve to retained earnings.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in operating profit. When revalued assets are 
sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings.

49

Notes to the financial statements

Sp
an

ja
ar

d 
Lt

d 
In

te
gr

at
ed

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
0

18



1. Principal accounting policies continued

Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit and loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. The cost of major renovations are included in the 
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits of the renovation of the existing asset will flow to the Group. Major renovations 
are depreciated until new renovations are expected. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised.

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that an entity would currently obtain from the disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated cost 
of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

The residual value of assets are reviewed by management after inspection of the asset on an annual basis and comparisons with market related prices. The 
assets useful lives and depreciation methods are also reviewed by management on an annual basis and adjusted as a change in estimate as appropriate, 
at each financial year-end.

G. Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:

 — it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and

 — the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

An intangible asset is derecognised when:

 — it is no longer expected that any future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and

 — when the asset is disposed of.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and they are subsequently carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each financial year-end.

Amortisation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income under the line item administrative expenses.

Artwork consists of product label designs, promotional material designs, logos and similar graphics.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, as follows:

Trademarks 10 years

Computer software 3 years

Artwork 10 years

The residual value of an intangible asset is the estimated amount that an entity would currently obtain from the disposal of the intangible asset, after deducting 
the estimated cost of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

The residual value of intangible assets are reviewed by management on an annual basis. The assets useful lives and depreciation methods are also reviewed by 
management on an annual basis and adjusted as a change in estimate as appropriate, at each financial year-end.

H. Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually, and at the 
same time each year.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

The value in use is determined as an estimate of future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate as derived from the use of the asset.
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1. Principal accounting policies continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount as an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment loss 
of a revalued asset is recognised first against the revaluation reserve and then against profit or loss.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount of the units. The impairment 
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:

 — first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit and

 — then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets other than goodwill 
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

I. Financial instruments

Initial recognition
The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Loans to/(from) Group companies
These include loans to holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries and are recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

Subsequently these loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss recognised to reflect 
irrecoverable amounts.

On loans receivable an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. Objective evidence includes South 
African Reserve Bank exchange regulations and the ability of the entities to remit their loans based on annual assessments. The impairment is measured as the 
difference between the investment’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed 
at initial recognition.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the loan’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Loans to group companies are classified as loans and receivables.

Loans from group companies are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Appropriate 
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Objective evidence 
includes notifications received of financial difficulties and long overdue accounts. Receivables are only impaired to the extent not recoverable from Credit 
Guarantee Insurance Corporation of Africa Limited (Referred to as ‘Credit Guarantee’ in these statements). Credit Guarantee insures the Group against the 
non recovery of receivables. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
recovery from Credit Guarantee using the original effective interest rate.
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1. Principal accounting policies continued

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction cost, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
rate method.

Trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Effective interest rate
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated cash flow through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or liability.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially recorded at fair value plus any transaction cost. Cash and cash 
equivalents are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as loans and receivables.

Overdraft is classified as a financial liability at amortised cost.

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the 
borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Borrowings are categorised as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Derecognition of financial instruments
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows expire, are transferred or are discharged.

J. Leases

Finance leases as lessee
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance 
leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the balance outstanding. The corresponding 
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to profit and loss over 
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment 
acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term if they will be returned.

Operating leases as lessee
Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under 
operating leases are charged to profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

K. Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work 
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes 
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling expenses.
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1. Principal accounting policies continued

L. Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.

M. Taxation
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

 — a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income; or 

 — a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same 
or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability.

N. Current tax assets and liabilities
If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods is less than the amount due for those periods, the shortfall is recognised as a liability.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, 
using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

O. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred taxation is provided, using the statement of financial position liability method, on all temporary differences at the statement of financial position 
date between the carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases, except for those that arise on initial recognition of goodwill or initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting profit nor 
tax profit. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the associated unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates and tax law that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. Deferred taxes are recognised 
as an income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period except if they relate to a transaction or event which is recognised in either other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity; or if the deferred tax arises from a business combination transaction.

P. Employee benefits

(1) Short-term employee benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service. Short-term employee benefit 
obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing 
plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can 
be estimated reliably.

The Group has a leave pay policy that allows for employees to utilise their leave over a 12 month period. This period is utilised by the employees and the leave 
accrual is therefore expected to be settled within a period not exceeding 12 months; leave pay is therefore considered a short-term employee benefit. 
Short-term employee benefit costs are recognised as the employee renders the related service calculated based on current salary rates.
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1. Principal accounting policies continued

(2) Provident fund obligations
The Group’s employees are members of a scheme that is funded through payments to a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a provident plan 
under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if 
the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The regular contributions 
constitute net periodic costs for the year in which they are due and as such are included in staff costs as the related service is rendered.

Q. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

R. Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the sale of goods and services, interest received and other income, net of value-added tax, rebates and after eliminating 
intergroup sales for group numbers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable 
for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts, volume rebates and value added tax.

Products consist of various aerosols, fuel additives, greases, car care products and anti-friction powders.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

 — the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

 — the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor control over the goods sold;

 — the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

 — it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

 — the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

S. Dividends
Dividends payable are recorded in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which they are declared.

T. Judgements and estimates
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, not always equal the related actual 
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below:

a) Asset lives and residual values
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual values, where applicable. The useful lives of assets and 
residual values are based on management’s estimation and are assessed at year-end.

b) Fair value measurement
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning 
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will by definition seldom equal the related actual results. In determining the open market value of freehold land and 
buildings the Company used the services of JC Bokhorst Valuation Services (Pty) Ltd who used a number of valuation approaches in order to value the freehold 
land and buildings. These valuation techniques underlying management’s estimation as well as the fair value hierarchy is provided in Note 33.
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1. Principal accounting policies continued

c) Impairment of assets
Management is required to make judgements concerning the cause, timing and amount of impairment. In the identification of impairment indicators, management 
considers the impact of changes in current competitive conditions, cost of capital, availability of funding, technological obsolescence, discontinuance of services 
and other circumstances that could indicate that impairment exists. Management’s judgement is also required when assessing whether previously recognised 
impairment losses should be reversed. The future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets are projected taking into account market conditions and the 
expected useful lives of the assets. The present value of these cash flows, determined using an appropriate discount rate, is the asset’s value in use.  In the case of 
the Special Lubricants and allied chemicals Cash Generating Unit, the specific judgements applied related to the growth rate of 10% and the discount rate of 15%.

All categories of assets are considered for impairment at each year-end. The recoverable amount is determined if there is a reason to believe that impairment 
may be necessary.

U. Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, the operating 
results of which are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker. The Chief Operating Decision Maker and the Board of Directors assess 
the business results by special lubricants and allied chemical as well as anti-friction powders. All inter-segment sales are accounted for on an arm’s length 
basis. Please refer to Note 2.

V. Standards, Interpretations and amendments issued but not yet effective   
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are listed below. This listing is of standards and interpretations 
issued, which the Group reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Group intends to adopt those standards when they become effective.

Standard or amendment Details of standard or amendment Effective date Impact

Amendments to IFRS 2 — 
‘Share-based payments’

Clarifying how to account 
for certain types of 
share-based payment 
transactions.

This amendment clarifies the measurement basis for 
cash-settled, share-based payments and the accounting 
for modifications that change an award from cash-settled to 
equity-settled. It also introduces an exception to the principles 
in IFRS 2 that will require an award to be treated as if it was 
wholly equity-settled, where an employer is obliged to withhold 
an amount for the employee’s tax obligation associated with a 
share-based payment and pay that amount to the tax authority.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018 
(published June 2016)

The impact of this is still being 
assessed, but it is not expected 
to result in any change.

IFRS 15 — Revenue from 
contracts with customers.

The FASB and IASB issued their long awaited converged 
standard on revenue recognition on 29 May 2014. It is a 
single, comprehensive revenue recognition model for all 
contracts with customers to achieve greater consistency 
in the recognition and presentation of revenue. Revenue 
is recognised based on the satisfaction of performance 
obligations, which occurs when control of good or 
service transfers to a customer.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018 
(published May 2014)

The company has reviewed all revenue 
streams under guidance from the new 
standard and discussed in detail with 
the audit committee the impact of this 
standard. This is not expected to 
materially influence the recognition 
criteria currently being enforced.

Amendment to IFRS 15 — 
Revenue from contracts 
with customers. 

The IASB has amended IFRS 15 to clarify the guidance, 
but there were no major changes to the standard itself. 
The amendments comprise clarifications of the guidance 
on identifying performance obligations, accounting for 
licences of intellectual property and the principal versus 
agent assessment (gross versus net revenue presentation). 
New and amended illustrative examples have been added for 
each of these areas of guidance. The IASB has also included 
additional practical expedients related to transition to the 
new revenue standard.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018 
(published April 2016)

The company has reviewed all revenue 
streams under guidance from the new 
standard and discussed in detail with 
the audit committee the impact of this 
standard. This is not expected to 
materially influence the recognition 
criteria currently being enforced.

IFRS 9 — Financial 
Instruments 
(2009 and 2010)

 – Financial liabilities
 – Derecognition of 

financial instruments
 – Financial assets
 – General hedge 

accounting

This standard replaces the guidance in IAS 39. It includes 
requirements on the classification and measurement of 
financial assets and liabilities; it also includes an expected 
credit losses model that replaces the current incurred loss 
impairment model.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018 
(published July 2014) 

The impact of this is still being assessed.
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Standard or amendment Details of standard or amendment Effective date Impact

Amendment to IFRS 9 — 
Financial instruments

 – prepayment features with 
negative compensation 
and

 – modification of financial 
liabilities

The narrow-scope amendment covers two issues:

 – The amendments allow companies to measure particular 
prepayable financial assets with so-called negative 
compensation at amortised cost or at fair value through 
other comprehensive income if a specified condition is 
met—instead of at fair value through profit or loss. It is 
likely to have the biggest impact on banks and other 
financial services entities.

 – How to account for the modification of a financial liability. The 
amendment confirms that most such modifications will result 
in immediate recognition of a gain or loss. This is a change 
from common practice under IAS 39 today and will affect 
all kinds of entities that have renegotiated borrowings.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019 
(published July 2014)

The impact of this is still being assessed.

IFRS 16 — Leases This standard replaces the current guidance in IAS 17 and is a 
far reaching change in accounting by lessees in particular. 

Under IAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction 
between a finance lease (on balance sheet) and an operating 
lease (off balance sheet). IFRS 16 now requires lessees to 
recognise a lease liability reflecting future lease payments 
and a ‘right-of-use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. 
The IASB has included an optional exemption for certain 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets; however, 
this exemption can only be applied by lessees.

For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. However, as 
the IASB has updated the guidance on the definition of a lease 
(as well as the guidance on the combination and separation of 
contracts), lessors will also be affected by the new standard.

At the very least, the new accounting model for lessees is 
expected to impact negotiations between lessors and lessees. 
Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17, ‘Leases’, IFRIC 4, ‘Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’, SIC 15, ‘Operating 
Leases — Incentives’ and SIC 27, ‘Evaluating the Substance 
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease’.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019: 
earlier application permitted 
if IFRS 15 is also applied. 
(published January 2016)

The impact of this is still being 
assessed and is expected to result 
in significant changes.

IAS 40, ‘Investment 
property’

Transfers of investment 
property

These amendments clarify that to transfer to, or from, 
investment properties there must be a change in use. To 
conclude if a property has changed use there should be an 
assessment of whether the property meets the definition. 
This change must be supported by evidence.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018 
(published December 2016)

Improved disclosures.

IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign currency 
transactions and advance 
consideration  

This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of 
transactions where there is consideration that is denominated 
or priced in a foreign currency. The interpretation provides 
guidance for when a single payment/receipt is made as well 
as for situations where multiple payment/receipts are made. 
The guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018 
(published December 2016)

The impact of this is still being assessed, 
however it is not expected to result in 
any change.
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Standard or amendment Details of standard or amendment Effective date Impact

IFRIC 23, ‘Uncertainty over 
income tax treatments’

IFRIC 23 provides a framework to consider, recognise 
and measure the accounting impact of tax uncertainties. 
The Interpretation provides specific guidance in several areas 
where previously IAS 12 was silent. The Interpretation also 
explains when to reconsider the accounting for a tax uncertainty. 
Most entities will have developed a model to account for tax 
uncertainties in the absence of specific guidance in IAS 12. 
These models might, in some circumstances, be inconsistent 
with IFRIC 23 and the impact on tax accounting could be material. 
Management should assess the existing models against the 
specific guidance in the Interpretation and consider the impact 
on income tax accounting.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019 
(published 7 June 2017)

The impact of this is still being assessed, 
however it is not expected to result in 
any change.

2. Operating segments

Management has determined the operating segments based on the historical contribution towards revenue.

The Group is organised on a worldwide basis into two main business segments:

 — Special Lubricants and allied chemicals: the manufacture of specialised industrial and consumer lubricants and allied chemicals; and

 — Anti-friction powders: the manufacture of various types and grades of anti-friction powders.

This is the level that the Chief Operational Decision Maker reviews results.

Other operations of the group mainly comprise the distribution of manufactured goods to consumers in overseas markets and dormant companies. Individually 
these are not of a sufficient size to be reported on separately.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant, equipment, intangible assets, inventory, receivables and operating cash and exclude taxation assets. Segment 
liabilities comprises of operating liabilities. Capital expenditure comprises of additions to property, plant and equipment (Note 3) as well as intangible assets (Note 4).

R’000

Special
lubricants and

allied chemicals
Anti-friction

powders Other
Interdivisional

transactions Total

2018

Segment sales  114 003  2 337  6 374 (5 036)  117 678 

External foreign customers  13 451  1 060  3 974 —  18 485 

External local customers  98 027  1 166 — —  99 193 

Inter segment sales  2 525  111  2 400 (5 036) —

Segment result (3 928) (1 382)  1 151 (243) (4 402)

Interest paid (1 029)

Interest received —

Loss before tax (5 431)

Taxation  897 

Loss for the year (4 534)

Segment assets  52 967  9 510  20 579 (18 700)  64 356 

Segment liabilities  25 743  2 078  12 659 (17 060)  23 420 

Other segment items

Capital expenditure  1 128 —  40 —  1 168 

Depreciation and amortisation  2 488  74  1  243  2 806 

1. Principal accounting policies continued
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2. Operating segments continued

R’000

Special
lubricants and

allied chemicals
Anti-friction

powders Other
Interdivisional

transactions Total

2017

Segment sales  114 195  3 764  7 675 (5 579)  120 055 

External foreign customers  19 732  2 959  5 172 —  27 863 

External local customers  91 509  683 — —  92 192 

Inter segment sales  2 954  122  2 503 (5 579) —

Segment result  2 951 (859)  227 (1 405)  914 

Interest paid (871)

Interest received —

Profit before tax  43 

Taxation  370 

Profit for the year 413

Segment assets  55 823  11 256  20 617 (18 944)  68 752 

Segment liabilities  25 049  2 543  13 288 (17 613)  23 267 

Other segment items

Capital expenditure  830 — — —  830 

Depreciation  2 490  80  252 —  2 822 

Revenue from large customers in the 2018 financial year (customers contributing >R10 million to segment sales) comprises R13,8 million from one customer 
in the Special lubricants and allied chemicals division.

Foreign segment non-current assets are immaterial and therefore are not disclosed separately in the segment report.

3. Property, plant and equipment

R’000
 Freehold land
and buildings 

 Plant and
equipment 

 Motor
vehicles 

 Office furniture
and equipment Total

Group

At 1 March 2016

Revaluation/cost  18 050  15 782  2 251  2 740  38 823 

Accumulated depreciation (362) (3 725) (1 444) (2 250) (7 781)

Closing net book amount  17 688  12 057  807  490  31 042 

At 28 February 2017

Opening net book amount  17 688  12 057  807  490  31 042 

Additions —  463 —  137  600 

revaluations  1 592 — — —  1 592 

Disposals — (37) (52) — (89)

Transfer  6 — — (6) —

Depreciation charge (257) (1 574)  10 (226) (2 047)

Closing net book amount  19 029  10 909  765  395  31 098 
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3. Property, plant and equipment continued

R’000
 Freehold land
and buildings 

 Plant and
equipment 

 Motor
vehicles 

 Office furniture
and equipment Total

Group

At 28 February 2017

Revaluation/cost  19 034  16 039  1 924  2 110  39 107 

Accumulated depreciation (5) (5 130) (1 159) (1 715) (8 009)

Closing net book amount  19 029  10 909  765  395  31 098 

At 28 February 2018

Opening net book amount  19 029  10 909  765  395  31 098 

Additions —  185  714  60  959 

Disposal — (62) (513) (1) (576)

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (Note 12) (25) (337) — (9) (371)

Depreciation charge (246) (1 512) (156) (202) (2 116)

Closing net book amount  18 758  9 183  810  243  28 994 

At 28 February 2018

Revaluation/cost  19 000  15 306  1 790  2 082  38 178 

Accumulated depreciation (242) (6 123) (980) (1 839) (9 184)

Closing net book amount  18 758  9 183  810  243  28 994 

Mortgage Bonds are secured by the property (Note 18).

The Group’s land and buildings comprise Erf 547, Wynberg, Sandton, with a factory building, warehouses and offices erected thereon. The Group’s land and 
buildings at Wynberg were revalued in the prior year on 28 February 2017 by JC Bokhorst Valuation Services (Pty) Ltd (independent valuators) using a combination 
of the capitalised rental approach, which is based on a market capitalisation rate of 10,5%, the depreciated replacement cost approach and also the estimated 
new replacement cost approach. The land portion was valued based on the estimated new replacement cost and depreciated replacement cost approach due 
to the value being the same in both valuation approaches.

During the financial year management decided to sell certain assets in Coppermet. Refer to Note 12 for further disclosure surrounding the transfer to non-current 
assets held for sale.

Group assets encumbered by instalment sale agreements with a book value of R2 521 997 (2017: R2 328 261), are set out below:

Group

R’000 2018 2017

Plant and equipment  1 924  1 927 

Motor vehicles  598  401 

 2 522  2 328 

Additions include R551 177 (2017: R224 607) assets leased under finance leases where the Group is the lessee:

Group

R’000 2018 2017

Plant and equipment  239  225 

Motor vehicles  312 —

 551  225 

59

Notes to the financial statements

Sp
an

ja
ar

d 
Lt

d 
In

te
gr

at
ed

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
0

18



3. Property, plant and equipment continued

If freehold land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis the carrying amount would have been as follows:

Group

R’000 2018 2017

Cost  14 073  14 073 

Accumulated depreciation (2 097) (1 873)

Closing carrying value  11 976  12 200 

If plant and equipment were stated on the historical cost basis the carrying amount would have been as follows:

Group

R’000 2018 2017

Cost  13 644  13 891 

Accumulated depreciation (10 734) (10 721)

Closing carrying value  2 910  3 170 

R’000
 Plant and

equipment 
 Motor

vehicles 
 Office furniture
and equipment Total

Company

At 1 March 2016

Revaluation/cost  20 344  2 037  2 659  25 040 

Accumulated depreciation (8 752) (1 411) (2 193) (12 356)

Closing net book amount  11 592  626  466  12 684 

At 28 February 2017

Opening net book amount  11 592  626  466  12 684 

Additions  463 —  137  600 

Disposals (1) (52) — (53)

Depreciation charge (1 529)  36 (223) (1 716)

Closing net book amount  10 525  610  380  11 515 

At 28 February 2017

Revaluation/cost  15 295  1 711  2 054  19 060 

Accumulated depreciation (4 770) (1 101) (1 674) (7 545)

Closing net book amount  10 525  610  380  11 515 
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3. Property, plant and equipment continued

R’000
 Plant and

equipment 
 Motor

vehicles 
 Office furniture
and equipment Total

Company

At 28 February 2018

Opening net book amount  10 525  610  380  11 515 

Additions  145  714  60  919 

Disposals (52) (513) — (565)

Depreciation charge (1 475) (127) (197) (1 799)

Closing net book amount  9 143  684  243  10 070 

At 28 February 2018

Revaluation/cost  15 265  1 576  2 082  18 923 

Accumulated depreciation (6 122) (892) (1 839) (8 853)

Closing net book amount  9 143  684  243  10 070 

During the 2018 financial year motor vehicles with a cost of R848 246 and accumulated depreciation of R334 855 as well as plant and equipment with a cost 
of R173 606 and accumulated depreciation of R123 606 were disposed of. During the 2017 financial year plant and equipment with a cost of R76 634 and 
accumulated depreciation of R75 906 as well as motor vehicles with a cost of R327 077 and accumulated depreciation of R275 433 were disposed.

Company assets encumbered by instalment sale agreements with a book value of R2 400 110 (2017: R2 176 935), are set out below:

Company

R’000 2018 2017

Plant and equipment  1 924  1 927 

Motor vehicles  476  250 

 2 400  2 177 

Additions include R551 177 (2017: R224 607) assets leased under finance leases where the Company is the lessee:

Company

R’000 2018 2017

Plant and equipment  239  225 

Motor vehicles  312 —

 551  225 

If plant and equipment were stated on the historical cost basis the carrying amount would have been as follows:

Company

R’000 2018 2017

Cost  13 644  13 682 

Accumulated depreciation (10 734) (10 703)

Closing carrying value  2 910  2 979 
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4. Intangible assets

R’000 Trademarks Artwork
Computer

software Total

Group

At 1 March 2016

Cost  1 829  1 153  4 047  7 029 

Accumulated amortisation (797) (971) (3 059) (4 827)

Closing net book amount  1 032  182  988  2 202 

At 28 February 2017

Opening net book amount  1 032  182  988  2 202 

Additions  230 — —  230 

Disposals — — (35) (35)

Amortisation charge (213) (33) (529) (775)

Closing net book amount  1 049  149  424  1 622 

At 28 February 2017

Cost  1 896  1 153  2 475  5 524 

Accumulated amortisation (847) (1 004) (2 051) (3 902)

Closing net book amount  1 049  149  424  1 622 

At 28 February 2018

Opening net book amount  1 049  149  424  1 622 

Additions  209 — —  209 

Disposals — — — —

Amortisation charge (262) (32) (396) (690)

Closing net book amount  996  117  28  1 141 

At 28 February 2018

Cost  1 968  1 153  2 475  5 596 

Accumulated amortisation (972) (1 036) (2 447) (4 455)

Closing net book amount  996  117  28  1 141 
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4. Intangible assets continued

R’000 Trademarks Artwork
Computer

software Total

Company

At 1 March 2016

Cost  1 818  1 153  4 047  7 018 

Accumulated amortisation (793) (971) (3 059) (4 823)

Closing net book amount  1 025  182  988  2 195 

At 28 February 2017

Opening net book amount  1 025  182  988  2 195 

Additions  230 — —  230 

Disposals — — (35) (35)

Amortisation charge (212) (33) (529) (774)

Closing net book amount  1 043  149  424  1 616 

At 28 February 2017

Cost  1 886  1 153  2 475  5 514 

Accumulated amortisation (843) (1 004) (2 051) (3 898)

Closing net book amount  1 043  149  424  1 616 

At 28 February 2018

Opening net book amount  1 043  149  424  1 616 

Additions  209 — —  209 

Amortisation charge (261) (32) (396) (689)

Closing net book amount  991  117  28  1 136 

At 28 February 2018

Cost  1 958  1 153  2 475  5 586 

Accumulated amortisation (967) (1 036) (2 447) (4 450)

Closing net book amount  991  117  28  1 136 

Trademark additions include various registrations and incorporations of the name Spanjaard and certain logos of the Spanjaard brand.
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5. Goodwill
Group

R’000 2018 2017

Goodwill  437  437 

The goodwill relates to the acquisition of Spanjaard EU BV. There was no movement on this balance during the current financial year (2017 : R Nil). The recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit (CGU) was determined based on the value in use, which required the use of assumptions. For impairment testing goodwill is 
allocated to Spanjaard EU BV, as Spanjaard EU BV represents the lowest CGU. Spanjaard EU BV forms an integral part of the operating activities in Europe and 
management believes that there are future growth prospects as the brand awareness increases. Spanjaard EU BV contributed R3 974 494 (2017: R5 172 005) 
towards the turnover of the Group.

The calculation used cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period.

Cash flow beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate stated below. These growth rates are consistent with forecasts 
included in industry reports specific to the industry in which the CGU operates. The below are the key assumptions for the CGU:

 — Sales growth rate of 2%.

 — Discount factor of 16%.

 — Gross margin remained constant.

No impairment loss was recognised.

6. Investment in subsidiaries

Investments in unlisted subsidiaries are made up as follows:

Company

R’000 2018 2017

Shares at cost  228  228 

 228  228 

The Directors’ valuation of investments in unlisted subsidiaries exceed cost. The Directors valued the investments on a net asset value basis at R15,3 million (2017: 
R16 million) and consider the valuation reasonable in the prevailing market conditions and due to the relationship between the entities. The valuation would be 
considered a level 3 for valuation on the fair value hierarchy as it is based on entity specific knowledge.
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6. Investment in subsidiaries continued

The following information relates to the Group’s financial interest in its subsidiaries:

Country of incorporation % Interest held 2018 2017

Directly held by company

Coppermet Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 — 3 — 3

Slip Products (S.A.) Proprietary Limited 2 South Africa 100 — — 3

Spanjaard EU BV The Netherlands 100 — 3 — 3

Spanjaard UK Limited United Kingdom 100 228 228

Torpedo Investments Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 — 3 — 3

228 228

Indirectly held

Bronzmet Proprietary Limited 1 2 South Africa 100 — — 3

228 228

1 Indirectly held via Coppermet Proprietary Limited.
2 Deregistered 2 November 2017.
3 Shareholding less than R1 000 is not reflected.

No restrictions exists on the Group’s ability to access or use assets and settle liabilities of the Group.

7. Inventories
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Raw materials (at cost)  8 166  10 850  7 985  10 217 

Finished goods (at cost)  8 602  6 201  8 341  5 682 

 16 768  17 051  16 326  15 899 

Damaged and obsolete inventory amounting to R261 564 (2017: R71 642) was provided for during the financial year.

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to R65 179 103 (2017: R62 958 840).

8. Trade receivables and other receivables
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Trade receivables  15 102  15 279  15 102  14 421 

Prepayments  360  279  250  273 

VAT receivable  53  596 —  460 

Other  740  265  696  228 

 16 255  16 419  16 048  15 382 
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8. Trade receivables and other receivables continued

Credit quality of trade and other receivables
The average credit period on sales is 30 days for local customers and 180 days for foreign customers. A letter of credit is obtained for foreign customers 
in order to receive payment earlier and additional charges are recognised on the balance for the period. No interest is charged on trade receivables. Before 
accepting a new customer, the credit application has to be approved by a Director and the sales department. Credit limits are reviewed at the request of the 
Group. Before any customer is allowed to buy on credit they have to be approved with a bank code (credit limits smaller than R25 000) or by Credit Guarantee 
(credit limits greater than R25 000). No customer is allowed to buy on credit if the account is in arrears or if the order is greater than the approved credit limit. 
If a customer should default on payment the Group will be paid out 80% of the outstanding balance by Credit Guarantee. The concentration of credit risk is 
limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to historical evidence of low write offs 
and the agreement with Credit Guarantee and the agreement relating to the recovery of outstanding receivables and is determined to be good.

Fair value of trade and other receivables
The carrying amount of the trade receivables approximates its fair value due to the short-term nature of the balances at year-end.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired are as follows:

Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

31 to 60 days  1 639  2 735  1 639  2 735 

61 to 90 days  219  660  219  660 

Over 90 days  103  437  103  437 

Currencies
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables for the Group and the Company are denominated in:

Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

US Dollars ($)  898  2 408  898  1 735 

Euro (€)  205  73  205 —

South African Rand (ZAR)  13 999  12 798  13 999  12 686 

 15 102  15 279  15 102 14 421

Trade and other receivables impaired
An allowance of R16 478 is made for the impairment of receivables as at 28 February 2018 (2017: R Nil).

Trade receivables are assessed for impairment on an individual customer level.
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9. Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Overdraft (7 035) (4 820) (5 180) (3 553)

Bank balance  631  1 816  121  1 128 

Cash on hand  4  7  3  6 

(6 400) (2 997) (5 056) (2 419)

Current assets  635  1 823  124  1 134 

Current liabilities (7 035) (4 820) (5 180) (3 553)

(6 400) (2 997) (5 056) (2 419)

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, the cash and cash equivalents comprise 
the following:

Cash and bank balances (6 400) (2 997) (5 056) (2 419)

10. Amount due by ultimate holding company
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Spanjaard Group Limited —  95 —  95 

—  95 —  95 

The loan from the Company’s holding company is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

These loans arose from operational transactions.

All amounts owing by the holding company have been recovered after year end and are therefore not impaired. The carrying value approximates fair value due 
to the expected short-term nature.

11. Amount due by/(to) subsidiaries and related companies
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Subsidiaries

Spanjaard EU BV — —  375  563 

Torpedo Investments Proprietary Limited — —  8 660  9 184 

— —  9 035  9 747 

Coppermet Proprietary Limited — — (8 765) (8 539)

Spanjaard UK Limited — — (325) (324)

— — (9 090) (8 863)

Current assets — —  9 035  9 747 

Current liabilities — — (9 090) (8 863)

— — (55)  884 
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11. Amount due by/(to) subsidiaries and related companies continued

The loans granted to and from the fellow subsidiaries and to the related companies are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

These loans arose from operational transactions.

All amounts owing by the related companies have been recovered after year-end and are therefore not impaired. The carrying value approximates fair value 
due to the expected short-term nature.

12. Non-current assets held for sale

R’000
 Freehold land
and buildings 

 Plant and
equipment 

 Office furniture
and equipment Total

Group

At 1 March 2017

Assets classified as held for sale during the year  25  337  9  371 

Impairment of non current assets held for sale (25) (220) — (245)

Closing net book amount at 28 February 2018 —  117  9  126 

Following approval by the directors on 15 September 2017, Coppermet would be closing its operations in Alrode. The result of this decision is that the freehold 
land and building, plant and equipment as well as the office furniture and equipment are classified as a non current asset held for sale. The vehicle will remain the 
property of Coppermet and will still be used for any orders that Coppermet will be doing in the future.

The assets held for sale were reflected at the lower of its carrying value and fair value less cost to sell in accordance with IFRS 5.

13. Ordinary shares
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Authorised

 15 000 000 ordinary shares of 5 cents each  750  750  750  750 

Issued

 8 142 850 ordinary shares of 5 cents each  407  407  407  407 

Share premium  6 464  6 464  6 464  6 464 

 6 871  6 871  6 871  6 871 

All issued shares are fully paid.

The un-issued ordinary shares are under the control of the Directors. The authority remains in force until the next annual general meeting.

Capital management policy
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

 — to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders; and

 — to provide a return to shareholders by continuing to declare dividends on a regular basis.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in the current economic conditions and the risk of characteristics 
of the underlying assets through dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

There have been no changes in the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital from the prior year.

The Group believes it has met the objectives of its capital management policy as the Group believes it has the resources to continue trading as a going concern 
in the foreseeable future and also due to the regular dividend payouts to its shareholders.
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14. Foreign currency translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises of exchange differences on consolidation of the foreign subsidiaries (Spanjaard EU BV and Spanjaard UK Limited):

Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Opening balance  17  131 — —

Movement for the year (15) (114) — —

Closing balance  2  17 — —

15. Revaluation reserve
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Opening balance  8 536  9 147  2 969  3 712 

Release due to depreciation charge (915) (1 757) (851) (743)

Current year revaluation — net of tax (Note 3) —  1 146 — —

 7 621  8 536  2 118  2 969 

The difference between depreciation as calculated on the original cost of property, plant and equipment and depreciation calculated on the revalued amount is 
transferred to retained earnings on an annual basis.

16. Share-based payment compensation reserve
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Closing Balance  1 906  1 906  1 906  1 906 

The Share based payment compensation reserve arose due to certain directors in Spanjaard Limited taking part in an executive share purchase scheme effective 
25 August 2010. The valuation was performed by the Financial Modelling Agency using a Monte Carlo simulation. The share purchase scheme has fully vested 
and was cancelled effective 29 February 2016.

17. Deferred tax
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Deferred tax liability comprises:

Property, plant and equipment (1 229) (1 160)  463  331 

Prepaid expenses (41) (155) (41) (155)

Deferred tax relating to revaluations (5 524) (5 368) (2 856) (2 856)

Tax loss  1 685  781  1 225  176 

Accruals  945  810  733  653 

(4 164) (5 092) (476) (1 851)
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17. Deferred tax continued

Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Reconciliation of deferred tax balance

Net deferred tax at beginning of year (5 092) (4 912) (1 851) (1 959)

Deferred tax income/(expense) charged to profit or loss  928  266  1 375  108 

Aggregate deferred tax charge to equity — (446) — —

(4 164) (5 092) (476) (1 851)

18. Borrowings
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Non-current

Finance lease liabilities  389  386  389  345 

 389  386  389  345 

Current

Finance lease liabilities  345  577  302  512 

Mortgage bond —  553 — —

 345  1 130  302  512 

Total borrowings  734  1 516  691  857 

Finance lease liabilities
Instalment sale agreements cover certain Group items such as plant and machinery, motor vehicles and office equipment, having a net book value of R2 521 997 
(2017: R2 328 261), Company R2 400 110 (2017: R2 176 935).

The agreements bear interest at rates between the prime overdraft rate and 1,5% above the prime overdraft rate. The current weighted average rate is 11,87% 
(2017: 10,32%).

Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Total finance lease liabilities  734  963  691  857 

Less: Current portion (345) (577) (302) (512)

 389  386  389  345 
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18. Borrowings continued

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:

Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Not later than 1 year  345  577  302  512 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  389  386  389  345 

 734  963  691  857 

Finance lease liabilities — minimum lease payment:

Not later than 1 year  402  650  358  576 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  424  439  424  396 

 826  1 089  782  972 

Future finance charges on finance leases (92) (126) (91) (115)

 734  963  691  857 

The contractual payments per month on the above finance leases are:  131  141  124  122 

Mortgage bonds
A first mortgage bond was secured over land and buildings, Erf 547 Wynberg, Sandton bearing interest at participation bond rates, the rate being 10,25% (2017: 10,5%) 
prior to the bond being fully repaid in the current financial year.

Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Total mortgage bond —  553 — —

Less: Current portion — (553) — —

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years — — — —

The present value of the mortgage bond liability is as follows:

Not later than 1 year —  553 — —

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years — — — —

—  553 — —

Mortgage bond liability — minimum payment:

Not later than 1 year —  565 — —

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years — — — —

—  565 — —

Future finance charges on mortgage bond — (12) — —

—  553 — —

Maturity of mortgage bonds
The remaining term and notional principle amount of the outstanding interest borrowing are as follows:

Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Not later than 1 year —  553 — —

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years — — — —

—  553 — —
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18. Borrowings continued

Borrowing facilities
Spanjaard Limited and Coppermet Proprietary Limited has a combined borrowing facility up to R12 000 000.

The carrying amounts of borrowings are linked to the prime interest rate and market related repayment terms.

The Group’s borrowing powers are unlimited in terms of its Memorandum of Incorporation.

19. Trade and other payables
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Trade payables  6 626  7 991  6 317  6 818 

Accrued expenses  1 004  832  705  584 

Provisions  1 265  1 118  840  693 

VAT payable  461  13  440 —

Accrued payroll expenses  2 123  1 877  1 996  1 822 

 11 479  11 831  10 298  9 917 

Trade and other payables are settled net 30 days. Exceptions are paid on an ad hoc basis.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.

20. Commitments
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Operating lease — as lessee

Minimum lease payments due

— within one year  91  46  91  46 

— in second to fifth year inclusive  58  104  58  104 

 149  150  149  150 

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office equipment. Leases are negotiated over an average term of five years 
and rentals are fixed for the period of the lease.

21. Finance costs
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Bank overdraft  806  408  806  409 

Bond  11  149 — —

Hire purchase  128  154  119  138 

Interest paid — discounted bills  84  160  71  79 

 1 029  871  996  626 
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22. Profit before tax

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax:

Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Depreciation and amortisation Note 3, 4  2 806  2 822  2 488  2 490 

Employment costs Note 23 33 934  31 544 33 037  30 595 

Auditor’s remuneration  1 042  1 012  810  765 

Foreign exchange (profit)/loss (102)  307 (74)  513 

Raw materials and consumables used  76 547  73 690  74 771  70 701 

Operating lease expenditure  1 158  1 066  3 191  3 220 

Impairment loss —  4 —  170 

Impairment of non current assets held for sale  245 — — —

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (63)  123 (75)  87 

23. Employment costs
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Short-term employee benefits  31 216  29 649  30 364  28 749 

Salaries and wages  30 647  28 975  29 810  28 082 

Leave pay  135  216  133  225 

Statutory contributions  434  458  421  442 

Post employment benefits 2 718  1 895 2 673  1 846 

Provident fund — defined contribution plans  2 196  1 500  2 151  1 451 

Directors' retirement benefits 522  395 522  395 

33 934  31 544 33 037  30 595 

Directors’ emoluments 6 834  8 164 6 834  8 164 

Included in above  

Short-term employee benefits 6 312  7 769 6 312  7 769 

Post employment benefits 522  395 522  395 

It is compulsory for all employees to be a member of the Liberty Life Provident Fund which is governed by the Pensions Fund Act of South Africa.

Refer to Note 16 for the valuation of the executive share purchase scheme.

Refer to page 43 for a detailed breakdown of the Directors’ Emoluments.
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24. Taxation
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

South African normal tax

Current tax — current — — — —

Current tax — prior — (104) — (1)

Deferred tax — current affecting profit and loss (713) (266) (1 374) (107)

Deferred tax — prior affecting profit and loss (184) — — —

Tax charge (897) (370) (1 374) (108)

The Group has a calculated tax loss available of R6 300 645 (2017: R3 101 912) which management is of the opinion that the loss will be utilised against 
taxable income in the foreseeable future. Coppermet (Pty) Ltd has a tax loss of R1 838 395 (2017: R906 319) which management is of the opinion that the 
loss will not be utilised against taxable income in the foreseeable future and thus has not recognised a tax loss on this portion.

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the South African tax rate as follows:

Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

(Loss)/profit before tax (5 431)  43 (4 924)  2 325 

Tax at South African normal tax rate of 28% (1 521)  12 (1 379)  651 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Deferred tax recognised in current period relating to prior periods (184) — — —

Assessed loss utilised (155) (81) — —

Deferred tax differences  2 002  865  1 056  156 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  34  112  22  98 

— Impairments  7  48 —  48 

— Loss on disposal of assets  4  32 —  24 

— Depreciation on leasehold improvements  22  26  21  25 

— Other  1  6  1  1 

Deferred tax on assessed loss not utilised (1 049) (425) (1 049) (176)

Income not taxable for tax purposes (24) (853) (24) (837)

— Dividend income — (837) — (837)

— Renewal of trademarks (21) — (21) —

— Other (3) (16) (3) —

Income tax expense (897) (370) (1 374) (108)
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25. (Loss)/earnings per ordinary share

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares in issue during the year. The Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Group

2018 2017

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (4 534)  413 

Actual and weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000s)  8 143  8 143 

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents) (55,7)  5,1 

The calculation of headline (loss)/earnings per share is based on earnings as calculated below and a weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue of 
8 142 850 (2017: 8 142 850).

2018 2017

R’000 Gross
Income

tax effect Net Gross
Income

tax effect Net

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable 
to shareholders (4 534) — (4 534)  413 —  413 

Adjustments for:

Impairment of non current assets held for sale  245 (69)  176 — — —

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment (63)  18 (45)  123 (34)  89 

Headline (loss)/earnings (4 352) (51) (4 403)  536 (34)  502 

Actual and weighted average number of 
ordinary shares in issue (’000s)  8 143  8 143 

Headline and diluted headline (loss)/earnings 
per share (cents) (54,1)  6,2 

26. Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

(Loss)/profit before tax (5 431)  43 (4 924)  2 325 

Adjustments for:

— Depreciation and amortisation  2 806  2 822  2 488  2 490 

— Unclaimed dividends reversed — (60) — (60)

— Finance costs  1 029  871  996  626 

— Impairment loss —  4 —  170 

— Impairment of non current assets held for sale  245 — — —

— (Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (63)  123 (75)  87 

Changes in working capital:

— Inventories  283  382 (427) (1 236)

— Trade and other receivables  164  4 492 (666)  3 195 

— Trade and other payables (352) (1 504)  381 (239)

— Amount due by subsidiaries and related companies — —  712  2 210 

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (1 319)  7 173 (1 515)  9 568 

75

Notes to the financial statements

Sp
an

ja
ar

d 
Lt

d 
In

te
gr

at
ed

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
0

18



27. Income tax received
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Opening balance  207  346  207  370 

Charge per profit and loss excluding movement in deferred tax —  1 —  1 

Closing balance — (207) — (207)

Tax received  207  140  207  164 

28. Shareholders for dividends
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Opening balance — shareholders for dividends (8) (1 362) (8) (1 362)

Unclaimed dividends reversed —  60 —  60 

Closing balance — shareholders for dividends  8  8  8  8 

Dividend paid — (1 294) — (1 294)

29. Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the periods presented.

Net Debt
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents  635  1 823  124  1 134 

Borrowings — repayable within one year (including overdraft) (7 380) (5 950) (5 482) (4 065)

Borrowings — repayable after one year (389) (386) (389) (345)

Net debt (7 134) (4 513) (5 747) (3 276)

Cash and liquid investments  635  1 823  124  1 134 

Gross debt — variable interest rates (7 769) (6 336) (5 871) (4 410)

Net debt (7 134) (4 513) (5 747) (3 276)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 28 February 2018

76

Sp
an

ja
ar

d 
Lt

d 
In

te
gr

at
ed

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
0

18



29. Net debt reconciliation continued

Other assets Liabilities from financing activities

R’000
Cash/bank

overdraft
Borrowings due

within 1 year
Borrowings due

after 1 year Total

Group

Net debt as at 1 March 2016 (2 909) (2 717) (1 143) (6 769)

Cash flows  174  1 587  757  2 518 

Foreign exchange differences (262) — — (262)

Net debt as at 28 February 2017 (2 997) (1 130) (386) (4 513)

Cash flows (3 334)  785 (3) (2 552)

Foreign exchange differences (69) — — (69)

Net debt as at 28 February 2018 (6 400) (345) (389) (7 134)

Company

Net debt as at 1 March 2016 (2 806) (934) (631) (4 371)

Cash flows  472  422  286  1 180 

Foreign exchange differences (85) — — (85)

Net debt as at 28 February 2017 (2 419) (512) (345) (3 276)

Cash flows (2 557)  210 (44) (2 391)

Foreign exchange differences (80) — — (80)

Net debt as at 28 February 2018 (5 056) (302) (389) (5 747)

30. Related parties

All transaction prices with related parties are in the normal course of business.

Relationships
Holding company: Spanjaard Group Limited

Subsidiaries: Coppermet Proprietary Limited; Spanjaard EU BV; Spanjaard UK Limited; Torpedo Investments Proprietary Limited

Related party balances

R’000 2018 2017

Amount owing by the parent

Refer to Note 10 for the terms of the loan —  95 

Amounts owing by subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries

Loans — refer to Note 11 for the terms of the loan  9 035  9 747 

Amounts owing to subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries

Loans — refer to Note 11 for the terms of the loan (9 090) (8 863)

Transactions with subsidiaries

Management fees received — Company  840  840 

Rent paid on buildings — Company (2 400) (2 400)

Sales — refer to Note 2 for company and group split  2 636  3 179 

Transactions with close family members of key management personnel in Company 263  397 
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31. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. 
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the Group through mitigating risk. This is managed at Group and Company level by the Board of Directors. The group currently banks 
with Standard Bank Group Limited and ING Bank who have a credit rating of Baa3 and Aa3 respectively.

There has been no change to the policies and procedures for managing risk from the prior year.

(i) Credit risk
Credit risk relates mainly to cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors at year end amounting to R8 701 936 (2017: R12 283 519). The Group only 
deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Customers are independently rated by Credit Guarantee and these ratings are used as explained in 
Note 8. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, due to its wide spread of customers. The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products 
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history and that partially guarantee the recoverability of trade receivables.

(ii) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar, the Euro 
and the GB pound. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. 
To manage their foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities, entities in the Group use derivative financial 
instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce certain exposures. Although the Group hedges its foreign currency transactions, this does not 
qualify as hedging in terms of IFRS. There were no foreign exchange contracts open at year-end. The year-end rate of R/€ in 2018 was 14,4832 (2017: 13,9173). 
The average rate of R/€ in 2018 was 15,1265 (2017: 15,7367). The year-end rate of R/£ in 2018 was 16,3354 (2017: 16,3091). The average rate of R/£ in 2018 
was 17,1730 (2017: 18,9438). The year-end rate of R/US$ in 2018 was 11,8734 (2017: 13,1780). The average rate of R/US$ in 2018 was 13,0981 (2017: 
14,2717). The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure on an ongoing basis.

Foreign currency exposure at reporting date

R’000 2018 2017

Group

Unhedged current assets

Accounts receivable ($) 76 183 

Carrying value in rands 898 2 408 

Accounts receivable (€) 14 5 

Carrying value in rands 205 73 

Unhedged current liabilities

Accounts payable ($) 35 54 

Carrying value in rands 420 707 
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31. Financial risk management continued

Foreign currency exposure at reporting date

R’000 2018 2017

Company

Unhedged current assets

Accounts receivable ($) 76 132

Carrying value in rands 898 1 735 

Unhedged current liabilities

Accounts payable ($) 35 13 

Carrying value in rands 415 173 

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:

United States Dollar 11,873 13,178 

Great British Pound 16,335 16,309 

Euro 14,483 13,917 

Sensitivity analysis

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit 
before tax due to changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts and foreign accounts payable and receivable.

R’000 2018 2017

Dollar fluctuation

+5%  24  85 

-5% (24) (85)

Euro fluctuation

+5%  10  4 

-5% (10) (4)

(iii) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through its borrowings (Note 18) and cash and cash equivalents (Note 9). Management of interest risk is through 
increased turnover and effective controls over cash collections.

Sensitivity analysis

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit 
before tax through the impact on variable rate borrowings.

R’000 2018 2017

Interest rate fluctuation

+5% 37 76

-5% (37) (76)
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31. Financial risk management continued

(iv) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities. This is managed via daily reconciliation of the cash on hand and cash forecasts to ensure the facility limit is not breached.

Refer to Note 8 for the disclosure surrounding the trade receivables and other receivables.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual 
maturity date.

R’000
Weighted

percentage (%)
Less than

1 year
Between

1 and 5 years
Over

5 years Total

Group

At 28 February 2018

Liabilities

Instalment sales agreements 11,87  402  424 —  826 

Trade and other payables  11 479 — —  11 479 

Overdraft 11,25  7 035 — —  7 035 

 18 916  424 —  19 340 

At 28 February 2017

Liabilities

Instalment sales agreements 10,32  650  439 —  1 089 

Mortgage bonds 10,50  565 — —  565 

Trade and other payables  11 831 — —  11 831 

Overdraft 10,00  4 820 — —  4 820 

 17 866  439 —  18 305 

Company

At 28 February 2018

Liabilities

Instalment sales agreements 11,91  358  424 —  782 

Trade and other payables  10 298 — —  10 298 

Overdraft 11,25  5 180 — —  5 180 

 15 836  424 —  16 260 

At 28 February 2017

Liabilities

Instalment sales agreements 10,23  576  396 —  972 

Trade and other payables  9 917 — —  9 917 

Overdraft 10,00  3 553 — —  3 553 

 14 046  396 —  14 442 
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32. Financial instruments
 Carrying amount 

R’000 2018 2017

Group

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables  15 102  15 279 

Amount due by holding company —  95 

Cash and cash equivalents  635  1 823 

 15 737  17 197 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Borrowings

— Non-current  389  386 

— Current  345  1 130 

Bank overdraft  7 035  4 820 

Trade and other payables (exclude VAT payable) 11 018 11 818

18 787 18 154

Company

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables  15 102  14 421 

Amount due by related company  9 035  9 747 

Amount due by holding company —  95 

Cash and cash equivalents  124  1 134 

 24 261  25 397 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Borrowings

— Non-current  389  345 

— Current  302  512 

Amount due to related company  9 090  8 863 

Bank overdraft  5 180  3 553 

Trade and other payables (exclude VAT payable) 9 858  9 917 

24 819  23 190 

The carrying amounts of short-term instruments are a reasonable estimate of the fair values because of the short maturity of such instruments. The carrying 
amounts of long-term borrowings are a reasonable estimate of fair value as the borrowings are based on floating market rates. The long-term borrowings are 
amortised over their defined term and have been split into their long- and short-term portions based on the capital repayments as calculated using the effective 
interest rate method.
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33. Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the group can access at measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Levels of fair value measurements
Group Company

R’000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Level 3

Property, plant and equipment Note 3

Freehold land and buildings  18 758  19 029 — —

Plant and equipment  9 183  10 909  9 143  10 525 

Total property, plant and equipment  27 941  29 938  9 143  10 525 

Valuation techniques underlying management’s estimation of fair value
In the prior year management relied on the valuation of JC Bokhorst Valuation Services (Pty) Ltd in order to value the freehold land and Buildings. The following 
methodologies is applicable to and used in determining the results set out:

R’000

Estimated new
replacement

cost approach

Depreciated
replacement

cost approach

Capital
rental

approach

Sensitivity on managements estimates:

Year ended 28 February 2017  27 587  19 926  17 527 

5% decrease in land value per square meter  27 243  19 581 —

5% increase in land value per square meter  27 931  20 269 —

0,5% decrease in capitalisation rate — —  18 403 

0,5% increase in capitalisation rate — —  16 730 

34. Contingent liability

Spanjaard Limited was served a notice of motion from the Department of Labour dated 12 January 2018, however only served on 27 February 2018. The notice 
of motion relates to the Department of Labour intending to make an application before the Honourable Court, in terms of section 45 of the Employment Equity 
Act 55, 1998, as amended (the Act). The notice of motion has indicated that the Honourable Court impose a fine of R1 500 000 on Spanjaard Limited for 
contravention of section 45(1)(b) in accordance with schedule 1 of the Act, as well as a further fine of R30 000 on Spanjaard Limited in terms of section 61(3) 
of the Act whereby Spanjaard Limited submitted reports to the Department of Labour without an employment equity plan. 

Spanjaard Limited is disputing the charges and is using the services of Nicole Ross Attorneys (the attorneys) to assist with this matter. The attorneys are in 
constant communication with the Department of Labour with regards to the notice of motion. The attorneys as well as the Board of Directors are confident 
that the matter will be resolved shortly with no fine being imposed.

Due to the serious nature of this, the Board of Directors has deemed it appropriate to disclose a contingent liability, however no provision has been raised due 
to the low probability of a fine being imposed.
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The following information has been extracted from the register of shareholders at 28 February 2018:

Number of
shareholders

% of total
shareholders

Number of
shares held

’000
% of total

shares issued

Share categories

Public

1 – 5 000 shares  356 88,12  147 1,81

5 001 – 10 000 shares  19 4,70  155 1,90

10 001 – 50 000 shares  19 4,70  435 5,34

50 001 – 100 000 shares  6 1,49  431 5,29

100 001 – and over  4 0,99  6 975 85,66

 404 100,00  8 143 100,00

Group categories

Public companies  5 1,24  5 917 72,66

Individuals  266 65,84  1 987 24,40

Nominees and trusts  12 2,97  150 1,84

Private companies  90 22,28  86 1,06

Close corporations  31 7,67  3 0,04

 404 100,00  8 143 100,00

Shareholding in the Company:

Share type

Public 398 98,51 1 671 20,53

Non-public

— Directors 5 1,24 629 7,73

— Holding company  1 0,25 5 843 71,74

 404 100,00 8 143 100,00

The following shareholders directly hold more than five percent of the issued share capital:

Number of
shares held

’000
% of total

shares issued

Group categories:

Spanjaard Group Limited 5 843 71,75

Estate of the late RJW Spanjaard 496 6,09

BV von Spreckelsen 479 5,88

6 818 83,72

83

Sp
an

ja
ar

d 
Lt

d 
In

te
gr

at
ed

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 2
0

18

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDING



SPANJAARD LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1960/004393/06)
JSE Share Code: SPA ISIN: ZAE000006938

Notice of meeting
Notice is hereby given that the 56th annual general 
meeting of shareholders of the Company (“the meeting”) 
will be held at The Wanderers Club, 21 North Road, Illovo, 
Johannesburg, at 12h00 on Friday, 17 August 2018.

Record date, attendance and voting
The record date for determining which shareholders are 
entitled to notice of the meeting is Friday, 25 May 2018 
and the record date for determining which shareholders 
are entitled to participate in and vote at the meeting is 
Friday, 10 August 2018. The last day to trade in order to 
be eligible to vote at the meeting is accordingly Monday, 
6 August 2018.

If you hold dematerialised shares which are registered 
in your name or if you are the registered holder of 
certificated shares:

 — you may attend the meeting in person;
 — alternatively, you may appoint a proxy to represent 

you at the meeting by completing the attached form 
of proxy in accordance with the instructions it contains 
and returning it to Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 
Johannesburg, 2196 (P.O. Box 61051, Marshalltown, 
2107) (“transfer secretaries”).

If you hold dematerialised shares which are not registered 
in your name:

 — and wish to attend the meeting, you must obtain the 
necessary letter of representation from your Central 
Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker;

 — and do not wish to attend the meeting but would like 
your vote to be recorded at the meeting, you should 
contact your CSDP or broker and furnish them with 
your voting instructions;

 — you must not complete the attached form of proxy.

All shareholders are entitled to attend, speak and vote at 
the general meeting and to appoint one or more proxies to 
attend, speak and vote or abstain in their stead. On a show 
of hands, every member who is present in person or by 
proxy shall have on vote, and, on a poll, every member 
present or by proxy shall have one vote for each share 
held by him/her.

A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the 
meeting is entitled, by completing the attached proxy 
form and delivering it to the company in accordance 
with the instructions on that proxy form, to appoint a proxy 
to attend, participate in and vote at the meeting in that 
shareholder’s place. A proxy need not be a shareholder 
of the company.

All meeting participants (including shareholders and proxies) 
may be required to provide satisfactory identification to the 
chairman of the meeting. Forms of identification include 
valid identity documents, passports and driver’s licences.

Purpose of meeting
The purpose of this meeting is to consider and, if deemed 
fit, to pass, with or without modification, the resolutions 
set out below.

Voting rights

In order for the ordinary resolutions number 1 to 9 to be 
adopted, the support of at least the simple majority (50% 
plus one share) of the total number of votes, which the 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at this 
meeting are entitled to cast, is required. The quorum for 
the meeting is 25% (twenty-five percent) of the issued 
share capital of the Company.

Ordinary resolutions

Ordinary resolution number 1 — 
Approval of the annual financial statements

To receive and adopt the annual financial statements of 
Spanjaard Limited for the year ended 28 February 2018.

Ordinary resolution number 2 — 
Directors’ remuneration

To confirm the directors’ remuneration as detailed in the 
directors’ emoluments note in the integrated report of the 
Company for the year ended 28 February 2018.

Ordinary resolution number 3 — 
Re-election of directors

To re-elect Mrs. S. Hari as non-executive director of 
the Company in accordance with the provisions of the 
Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company.

Brief CVs of above mentioned Directors are included 
in the Integrated Annual Report on page 11.

Ordinary resolution number 4 — 
Appointment and remuneration of auditors

To appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as auditors of the 
Company until the following Annual General Meeting, and 
to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration 
for the past year.
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Ordinary resolution number 5 — 
Placing authorised but unissued share capital 
under the control of the directors

Resolved that the unissued ordinary shares in the capital of 
the Company be and are hereby placed under the control 
of the Directors until the next Annual General Meeting and 
that they are hereby authorised to issue any shares as they 
may deem fit in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, the Memorandum of Incorporation of 
the Company, and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Ordinary resolution number 6 — 
Appointment of the members of the 
Audit Committee

To appoint, by way of separate resolutions, the Audit 
Committee Chairperson, Mrs S. Hari and Audit Committee 
members, Mr B.L. Montgomery and Prof D.P. van der Nest 
as required in terms of the Companies Act and as 
recommended by King IV.

Ordinary resolution number 7 — 
Appointment of the Company Secretary

To authorise any person authorised by Levitt Kirson 
Business Services Proprietary Limited to continue in 
office as Company Secretary.

Ordinary resolution number 8 — 
Directors’ interest in contracts

To confirm that in compliance with section 75(5) of the Act, 
the directors have no interest to declare in any contracts 
entered into by the Company during the year under review.

Ordinary resolution number 9 — 
To transact such other business as may be 
transacted at an Annual General Meeting

Non-binding advisory vote — 
remuneration policy
The King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South 
Africa 2016 (King IV) recommends that the company’s 
remuneration policy be tabled for a non-binding advisory 
vote by shareholders at every AGM, thus providing the 
shareholders with an opportunity to express their views 
on the company’s remuneration policies. The report of 
the remuneration committee is set out on pages 28 to 31 
of the integrated annual report.

Non-binding advisory vote

“ Resolved that the company’s remuneration policy as 
set out on pages 28 to 31 of the integrated annual report, 
be and is hereby endorsed by way of a non-binding 
advisory vote.”

Special resolutions

Voting rights

In order for the special resolutions to be adopted, the support 
of at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the total number of 
votes, which the shareholders present or represented by 
proxy at this meeting are entitled to cast, is required. The 
quorum for the meeting is 25% (twenty-five percent) of the 
issued share capital of the Company.

Special resolution number 1 — 
Financial assistance to related or inter-related 
entities to the company

“ Resolved that the Board of Directors is authorised, in 
terms of and subject to the provisions of section 45 of the 
Companies Act, to cause the company to provide financial 
assistance to any company or corporation that is related 
or inter-related to Spanjaard Limited.”

Reason for and effect of this resolution

Special resolution number 1 is required in terms of section 45 
of the Companies Act to grant the Directors of the Company 
the authority to cause the company to provide financial 
assistance to any entity which is related or inter-related to the 
company, and it will have this effect. This special resolution 
does not authorise the provision of financial assistance to 
a Director or prescribed officer of the Company.

Special resolution number 2 — 
Financial assistance for subscription for or purchase 
of securities by related or inter-related entities to 
the company

” Resolved that the Board of Directors is authorised, in terms of 
and subject to the provisions of section 44 of the Companies 
Act, to cause the Company to provide financial assistance 
for subscription for or purchase of securities to any entity 
which is related or inter-related to the Company, and it will 
have this effect. This special resolution does not authorise 
the provision of financial assistance to a Director or 
prescribed officer of the Company.”

Reason for and effect of this resolution

Special resolution number 2 is required in terms of 
section 44 of the Companies Act to grant the Directors 
of the Company the authority to cause the company to 
provide financial assistance for the subscription for or 
purchase of securities to any entity which is related or 
inter-related to the Company, and it will have this effect. 
This special resolution does not authorise the provision 
of financial assistance to a Director or prescribed officer 
of the Company.
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Special resolution number 3 — 
Approval of the remuneration of Non-executive 
directors for services as directors for the 
following year

” Resolved that the following remuneration of Directors 
of the Company for their services as Directors of the 
Company for the period from 1 March 2018 to 28 February 
2019 be and is hereby approved in accordance with 
sections 66(9) of the Companies Act:

 — Chairman of the Board — R195 000
 — Non-Executive Members of the Board — R390 000 per 

annum in aggregate”

Reason for and effect of this resolution

Special resolution number 3 is required in terms of section 
66(9) of the Companies Act, in order that the Company 
may, if so authorised in terms of a special resolution, 
pay remuneration to its non-executive directors for their 
services as Directors. The effect of this resolution is to 
approve the remuneration of the Directors of the Company 
for their services as Directors for the following year.

Special resolution number 4 — 
Actions of directors

“ Resolved that all matters and things undertaken and 
discharged by the directors on behalf of the company be and 
are hereby confirmed and to the extent necessary, 
ratified.”

Reason for and effect of this resolution

Special resolution number 4 is required to authorise and 
resolve that all matters and things undertaken and discharged 
by the directors on behalf of the Company be and are hereby 
confirmed and to the extent necessary, ratified.

Interpretation of this notice
In this notice of annual general meeting, all references to:

 — “ Companies Act” means the Companies Act, No. 71 of 
2008, as amended;

 — “JSE Listings Requirements” means the Listings 
Requirements of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange, as 
amended from time to time;

 — “MOI” means the Memorandum of Incorporation.

By order of the board

Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited 
Company Secretary

Johannesburg 
31 May 2018
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SPANJAARD LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)  (Registration number: 1960/004393/06) JSE Share Code: SPA ISIN: ZAE000006938

This form of proxy (form) is for use by certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders whose shares are registered in their own names on Friday, 
10 August 2018, being the record date for the meeting (see note 1).

This form relates to the annual general meeting of shareholders to be held at The Wanderers Club, 21 North Road, Illovo, Johannesburg, at 12h00 on Friday, 
17 August 2018 (meeting) (see note 2).

For instructions on the use of this form and a summary of the rights of the shareholders and the proxy, please see the instructions and notes at the end of this form.

I/We (full names)

of (address)

being a shareholder/s of the Company and being the registered owner/s of

ordinary shares in the company (see note 3), hereby appoint:

1. or failing him/her

2. or failing him/her

the Chairman of the meeting (see note 4) as my/our proxy to attend, speak and on a poll to vote or abstain from voting on my/our behalf at the general meeting of the 
Company to be held at The Wanderers Club, 21 North Road, Illovo, Johannesburg, at 12h00 on Friday, 17 August 2018 or at any adjournment thereof (see note 5).

I/We desire my/our proxy to vote as follows (Indicate with a cross how you wish your vote to be cast. If you do not do so, the proxy may vote or abstain at his discretion — 
see note 6):

In favour of Against Abstain

Ordinary resolutions
1.  Approval of the annual financial statements

2. Approval of director’s remuneration

3. Re-election of directors

  3.1   To re-elect Mrs S Hari who retires in accordance with the Memorandum of Incorporation and offers herself for re-election

4.  Appointment and remuneration of auditors

5.  Placing authorised but unissued share capital under the control of the directors

6. Appointment of the members of the Audit Committee

  6.1   To appoint Mrs S Hari as Chairperson of the Audit Committee as required in terms of the Companies Act and as 
recommended by King IV

  6.2   To appoint Mr BL Montgomery as member of the Audit Committee as required in terms of the Companies Act and 
as recommended by King IV

  6.3   To appoint Prof DP van der Nest as member of the Audit Committee as required in terms of the Companies Act 
and as recommended by King IV

7.   To authorise any person authorised by Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited to continue in office as 
Company Secretary

8.  To confirm that in compliance with section 75(5) of the Act, the directors have no interest to declare in any contracts 
entered into by the Company during the year under review

9. To transact such other business as may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting

Non-binding advisory vote — remuneration policy

Special resolutions
1.  Financial assistance to related and inter-related entities to the Company

2. Financial assistance for the subscription for or purchase of securities by related and inter-related entities to the Company

3. Approval of the remuneration of non-executive directors for services as directors for the following year

4.  Approval of the actions of directors for the following year

Signed this day of 2018

Signature Number of shares
Please see the notes on the reverse side hereof for further instructions.
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1.   This form is for use by certificated shareholders and dematerialised 
shareholders with “own-name” registration whose shares are 
registered in their own names on the record date and who wish to 
appoint another person to represent them at the meeting. If duly 
authorised, companies and other corporate bodies which are 
shareholders having shares registered in their own names may 
appoint a proxy using this form, or may appoint a representative 
in accordance with the last paragraph below.

    Other shareholders should not use this form. All beneficial holders who 
have dematerialised their shares through a Central Securities Depository 
Participant (CSDP) or broker, and do not have their shares registered 
in their own name, must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting 
instructions. Alternatively, if they wish to attend the meeting in person, 
they should request the CSDP or broker to provide them with a letter of 
representation in terms of the custody agreement entered into between 
the beneficial owner and the CSDP or broker.

2.   This form will not be effective at the meeting unless received at 
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 15 Biermann 
Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2196, Republic of South Africa. 
If a shareholder does not wish to deliver this form to that address, 
it may also be posted at the risk of the shareholder to PO Box 61051, 
Marshalltown, 2107.

3.   This form shall apply to all the ordinary shares registered in the name 
of shareholders at the record date unless a lesser number of shares 
is inserted.

4.   A shareholder may appoint one person as his proxy by inserting 
the name of such proxy in the space provided. Any such proxy need 
not be a shareholder of the company. If the name of the proxy is 
not inserted, the Chairman of the meeting will be appointed as proxy. 
If more than one name is inserted, then the person whose name 
appears first on this form and who is present at the meeting will be 
entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of any persons whose names 
follow. The proxy appointed in this form may delegate the authority 
given to him in this proxy by delivering to the company, in the manner 
required by these instructions, a further form which has been 
completed in a manner consistent with the authority given to 
the proxy of this form.

5.   Unless revoked, the appointment of a proxy in terms of this form 
remains valid until the end of the meeting even if the meeting or 
part thereof is postponed or adjourned.

6.  Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, if:

   6.1   a shareholder does not indicate on this form that the proxy is 
to vote in favour of or against or to abstain from voting on any 
resolution; or

   6.2   the shareholder gives contrary instructions in relation to any 
matter; or

   6.3   any additional resolution/s are properly put before the 
meeting; or

   6.4  any resolutions listed in the proxy form is modified or amended,

    the proxy shall be entitled to vote or abstain from voting, as he thinks 
fit, in relation to the resolution or matter. If, however, the shareholder 
has provided further written instructions which accompany this form 
and which indicate how the proxy should vote or abstain from voting 
in any of the circumstances referred to in 6.1 to 6.4, then the proxy 
shall comply with those instructions.

7.    If this form is signed by a person (signatory) on behalf of the shareholder, 
whether in terms of a power of attorney or otherwise, then this form 
will not be effective unless:

   7.1   it is accompanied by a certified copy of the authority given 
by the shareholder to the signatory; or

   7.2   the Company has already received a certified copy of 
that authority.

8.   The Chairman of the meeting may, at his discretion, accept or reject 
any form or other written appointment of a proxy which is received 
by the Chairman prior to the time when the meeting deals with a 
resolution or matter to which the appointment of the proxy relates, 
even if that appointment of a proxy has not been completed and/or 
received in accordance with these instructions. However, the Chairman 
shall not accept any such appointment of a proxy unless the Chairman 
is satisfied that it reflects the intention of the shareholder appointing 
the proxy.

9.   Any alternations made in this form must be initialled by the 
authorised signatory/ies.

10.   This form is revoked if the shareholder who granted the proxy:

   10.1  gives written notice of such revocation to the Company, so that 
it is received by the Company; or

   10.2 appoints another proxy for the meeting; or

   10.3 attends the meeting himself in person.

11.   All notices which a shareholder is entitled to receive in relation to the 
Company shall continue to be sent to that shareholder and shall not 
be sent to the proxy.

12.   A minor must be assisted by his/her guardian, unless proof of 
competency is signed and has been recorded by the Company.

13.   If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies which 
are shareholders of the Company having shares registered in their 
own name may, instead of completing this proxy form, appoint a 
representative to represent them and exercise all of their rights at 
the meeting by giving written notice of the appointment of that 
representative. This notice will not be effective at the meeting unless 
it is accompanied by a duly certified copy of the resolution/s or other 
authorities in terms of which that representative is appointed and is 
received at the Company’s transfer office, Computershare Investor 
Services Proprietary Limited,15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 
Johannesburg, 2196, Republic of South Africa.
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Summary of rights established by section 
58 of the Companies Act, as required in 
terms of subsection 58(8)(b)(i)
1.   A shareholder may at any time appoint any individual, including a 

non-shareholder of the Company, as a proxy to participate in, speak 
and vote at a shareholders’ meeting on his or her behalf (section 58(1)
(a)), or to give or withhold consent on behalf of the shareholder to a 
decision in terms of section 60 (shareholders acting other than at a 
meeting) (section 58(1)(b)).

2.   A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the 
shareholder, and remains valid for one year after the date on which 
it was signed or any longer or shorter period expressly set out in 
the appointment, unless it is revoked in terms of paragraph 6.3 or 
expires earlier in terms of paragraph 10.4 below (section 58(2)).

3.   A shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as 
proxies and may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting 
rights attached to different securities held by the shareholder 
(section 58(3)(a)).

4.   A proxy may delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of the 
shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out in the 
instrument appointing the proxy (proxy instrument) (section 58(3)(b)).

5.   A copy of the proxy instrument must be delivered to the Company, 
or to any other person acting on behalf of the Company, before the 
proxy exercises any rights of the shareholder at a shareholders’ 
meeting (section 58(3)(c)) and in terms of the Memorandum of 
Incorporation (MOI) of the Company.

6.  Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy:

   6.1   the appointment is suspended at any time and to the extent 
that the shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in 
the exercise of any rights as a shareholder (section 58(4)(a));

   6.2   the appointment is revocable unless the proxy appointment 
states otherwise (section 58(4)(b)); and

   6.3   if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the 
proxy appointment by cancelling it in writing or by making a 
later, inconsistent appointment of a proxy, and delivering a 
copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the 
Company (section 58(4)(c)).

7.    The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete 
and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of 
the shareholder as of the later of the date stated in the revocation 
instrument, if any, or the date on which the revocation instrument was 
delivered as contemplated in paragraph 6.3 above (section 58(5)).

8.   If the proxy instrument has been delivered to a Company, as long as that 
appointment remains in effect, any notice required by the Companies 
Act or the Company’s MOI to be delivered by the Company to the 
shareholders must be delivered by the Company to the shareholders 
(section 58(6)(a)), or the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has 
directed the Company to do so in writing and paid any reasonable 
fee charged by the Company for doing so (section 58(6)(b)).

9.   A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting 
right of the shareholder without direction, except to the extent that 
the MOI or proxy instrument provides otherwise (section 58(7)).

10.   If a Company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or 
more persons named by the Company as a proxy, or supplies a form 
of proxy instrument:

   10.1  the invitation must be sent to every shareholder entitled to 
notice of the meeting at which the proxy is intended to be 
exercised (section 58(8)(a)).

   10.2  the invitation or form of proxy instrument supplied by the 
Company must:

      10.2.1   bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights 
established in section 58 of the Companies Act 
(section 58(8)(b)(i));

      10.2.2   contain adequate blank space, immediately 
preceding the name(s) of any person(s) named in it, 
to enable a shareholder to write the name, and if 
desired, an alternative name of a proxy chosen by 
the shareholder (section 58(8)(b)(ii)); and

      10.2.3   provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate 
whether the appointed proxy is to vote in favour of or 
against any resolution(s), to be put at the meeting, 
or is to abstain from voting (section 58(8)(b)(iii));

   10.3  the Company must not require that the proxy appointment 
be made irrevocable (section 58(8)( c )); and

   10.4  the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of 
the meeting at which it was intended to be used, subject 
to paragraph 7 above (section 58(8)(d)).
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AUDITORS 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
4 Lisbon Lane 
Waterfall City 
Jukskei View 
2090

REGISTERED  
OFFICE

Spanjaard Limited 
748 – 750 Fifth Street 
Wynberg 
Sandton 
2090

SPONSOR 

Arbor Capital Sponsors Proprietary Limited  
20 Stirrup Lane 
Woodmead Office Park 
Corner Woodmead Drive and  
Van Reenens Avenue 
Woodmead 
2191

DOMICILE

South Africa

REGISTRATION  
NUMBER

1960/004393/06

TRANSFER  
SECRETARIES

Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited 
Rosebank Towers 
15 Biermann Avenue 
Rosebank, Johannesburg 
2196

COMPANY SECRETARY 
AND REGISTERED OFFICE

Levitt Kirson Business Services 
Proprietary Limited 
4th Floor, Aloe Grove 
Houghton Estate Office Park 
2 Osborn Road 
Houghton 
2198
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sigil design bureau

www.sigil.co.za


Spanjaard Ltd
748 – 750 Fifth Street, 
Wynberg, Sandton.

+27 11 386 7100 
info@spanjaard.biz

www.spanjaard.biz

Amsterdam | Hong Kong | Johannesburg | London


